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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
For the period ended 30 June 2017 

To the Hon. David Templeman MLA 
Minister for Local Government; Heritage; Culture and the Arts 

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the final report of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the financial year ended 30 
June 2017. This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
other relevant legislation. 

As the Department of Culture and the Arts ceased operations on 30 June 2017, this report is submitted, signed by the 
Reporting Officer, Ms Leyla Nowbakht, as appointed by the Treasurer under Section 68(1) of the Financial Management 
2006. 

 

 

Ms Leyla Nowbakht 

Reporting Officer 

27 September 2017 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
About this report 

This report is structured in accordance with the Public Sector Commission’s Annual Reporting Framework 2016 and 
provides a detailed account of DCA’s activities over the 2016-17 year.  

DCA’s role, vision, values and key priorities are outlined in Section 1, along with an overview of DCA’s operational 
structure, performance management framework and corporate objectives, as detailed in the DCA Strategic Plan 2015-
2017.   

Section 2 provides a detailed overview of DCA’s performance across strategic projects and core service delivery in the 
areas of arts and cultural investment (grants and funding) and state information management and archives services.   

DCA’s compliance with legislative requirements, public sector standards and other government policies are outlined in 
Section 4.  

Evaluation of the Culture and Arts Portfolio’s performance in achieving Government Desired outcomes is detailed in 
Section 5. Key performance Indicators (KPIs) measure performance at the whole of portfolio level, with each 
organisation’s KPIs contributing to overall performance measurement for the portfolio. The result is a consolidated 
picture of what the culture and arts portfolio is delivering and its impact on the community of WA.  

A comprehensive account of the Portfolio’s financial performance is provided in Section 6. Included here are audited 
financial statements of income, financial position, changes in equity and cash flows, all of which are accompanied by 
notes. 

Strategic initiatives and priority projects 

The following outcomes were delivered against strategic initiatives and priority projects: 

 DCA continued to work with State Government partners to meet key milestones for the delivery of the New 
Museum, which is on schedule to be completed in 2020-21.  

 A preliminary Perth Cultural Centre (PCC) Planning Framework addressing linkages between the PCC and adjacent 
precincts was endorsed by the Central Perth Planning Committee in August 2016.  

 An Application for Concept approval (ACA) for a consolidated storage solution for the Culture and Arts portfolio 
was finalised in June 2017. 

 ICT departments across the Portfolio were integrated into a centralised team based at the State Library of WA.  
Work is continuing on integration of data centres, email and phone systems for the portfolio. 

 DCA signed a new MOU with the Department of Aboriginal Affairs and established a new working partnership 
with the Department of Health. 

 The 2017 Revealed: Emerging Aboriginal Artists from Western Australia showcase featured artwork from 75 new 
and emerging Aboriginal artists and achieved sales of $438,000, an increase of 18% from the previous year 

 As part of international partnership development, DCA signed a MOU with China’s National Base for International 
Cultural Exchange and Research in China, and has commenced development of cultural exchange, internships and 
professional development programs for artists. 

 DCA successfully assisted the Perth Theatre Trust with identifying a suitable ticketing model for arts and cultural 
venues and contracting a provider to supply ticketing and related services. 

 A centralised Asset Maintenance Team (AMT) has been established to manage a portfolio of approximately 40 
separate cultural infrastructure buildings via a Maintenance Service Arranger agreement with The Department of 
Finance’s Building, Management and Works. 
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 Following an inaugural Regional Galleries Forum supported by DCA, an incorporated association comprising 
representatives of the regional sector has been formed and will work collaboratively to support the sector. 

 A strategic Portfolio Business Innovation Management Group (PBIMG) and an operational Digital Working Group 
have been formed to collaborate on the implementation of a digital services model for the portfolio. 

 Strategic Directions 2016-2031, the first long-term strategic direction developed for the arts and culture sector in 
Western Australia, was delivered in October 2016 by the Arts Leadership Group following an extensive 
consultation process with the sector and community  

 With DCA’s assistance, Screenwest successfully concluded its transition from a government agency to an 
independent, not-for-profit entity.  

Arts and Cultural Sector investment 

Through contestable and strategic funding programs, DCA distributed: 

 $14,151,366 in recurrent organisations funding, comprising $4,458,854 to Major Performing Arts Companies and 
$9,692,512 to organisations funded through the Organisation Investment Program.  

 $1,119,722 to arts and cultural organisations and community projects via devolved funding through Country Arts 
WA and the Community Arts Network WA 

 $3,106,529 in project funding to individuals, groups and organisations through the Creative Development, 
Commercial Development, Community Engagement, Aboriginal Arts and Scholarship and Fellowship grants 
programs. 

 $5,475,856 million through Creative Regions grants programs delivered directly by DCA or through funding 
agreements with key delivery partners CircuitWest and Country Arts WA; and   

 $4,640,018 in strategic funding for policy initiatives and programs identified as a priority for Government and the 
sector. 

State Information Management and Archive Services 

As part of its information management role, the State Records Office (SRO): 

 Introduced a Government Digitisation Service to supplement the existing Government archive loan service. 

 Completed digitisation of 15,000 archival files relating to Aboriginal affairs in the 20th century. 

 Commenced development of an Online Recordkeeping Compliance Application (ORCA) to enable agencies to 
create and manage recordkeeping plans online  

Disclosures and compliance 

The following is a summary of DCA’s compliance with legislative requirements, public sector standards and other 
government policies is as follows. A detailed report is provided in Section 4.  

 DCA’s pricing policies are based on the Department of Treasury’s Costing and Pricing Guidelines. Fees are charged 
for some services provided by the State Records Office services, and for hire of studios and meeting rooms of the 
DCA-managed King Street Arts Centre. 

 There were five recorded uses of credit cards for non-work related purchases totalling $119.83 in 2016-17. 

 Two FOI applications were received across the Culture and the Arts portfolio during the financial year. 

 A total of $29,338 was incurred in research and advertising expenditure  during the financial year 

 DCA met all required outcomes of its Disability Access and Inclusion Plan. Outcomes reported by funded 
organisations include: 

- 811 artists with disabilities engaged in the creation and presentation of work. 
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- 2,429 events/activities delivered targeting people with disabilities, and three new works engaging people with 
disabilities in their creation. 

- 103 people with disabilities engaged in the creation of new work and 933 people with disabilities engaged in 
activities/events.  

 There were no reported breaches of the public sector standards during the year.  

 DCA continues to promote ethical and accountable behaviour in its workforce, supplementing public sector codes 
with relevant internal policies and procedures. 

 A substantive equality champion has been nominated for Portfolio agency as part of the DCA Substantive Equality 
Implementation Plan.  

 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander diversity indicators exceeded targets for 2016-17. Youth, people with 
disability and individuals from culturally diverse backgrounds were underrepresented. Training and recruitment 
initiatives have been implemented to address these gaps. 

 Occupational Safety, Health and Injury management targets were met in relation to fatalities, lost time injuries 
and return to work. Manager training was not conducted but will resume in the next year. 

Key Performance Indicators 

Key Effectiveness Indicators 

The number of Department funded works presented and/or developed in 2016-17 was 11,461, while the number of 
paid attendances to funded organisations works decreased to 782,430 which is a reflection of conservative estimates 
and budgeting in the current climate from the organisations. The ratio of government funding to other income reduced 
to 1:4.14 as a result of a significant decrease in private sector support received by arts organisations and the public 
value of the contribution of arts and culture to the State’s identity and community was 69. 

The percentage of annual infrastructure maintenance budget expended on Portfolio infrastructure maintenance 
requirements was 99.4% for 2016-17, an increase on last year, due to the completion of a significant number of 
maintenance projects, such as new staff and goods lifts in the Alexander Library Building, roof treatments to the 
Maritime Museum, and equipment and systems upgrades at His Majesty’s Theatre.  

The Level of compliance with State Records Commissions Standards was 90% while the percentage of archival resources 
to with State Records Office provided an information service was 21% of the State’s hardcopy archives.   

Key Efficiency Indicators 

Grants operations expense as a percentage of direct grants approved in 2016-17 was 4.1% for Arts Industry Support and 
3.9% for Research, Policy Development, Information and Support. The reduction from 2015-16 is due to a reduction in 
grants administration costs resulting from system improvements through the Online Grants Management System and 
efficiencies in processing times. 

The average cost of service per full time FTEs for Corporate asset and infrastructure support to the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio increased to $19,382 primarily related to the reduction in FTEs across the portfolio. 

The cost per Access service for Archival services was$7.92 which decreased due to an increase in the number of 
accesses. 
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SECTION 1: AGENCY OVERVIEW  
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AGENCY PROFILE 
The Department of Culture and the Arts (DCA) guides the delivery of culture and arts for Western Australia through the 
provision of policy development, coordination, arts-based private and public partnerships, and support services to the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio.  DCA also supports the development of culture and the arts in the State through the 
provision of funding to individual artists and arts organisations, devolved funding through selected organisations, and 
partnerships with Commonwealth, State and local government agencies. 

DCA is part of the Culture and Arts Portfolio which includes: 

 the Art Gallery of Western Australia (a statutory authority) 

 Perth Theatre Trust (a statutory authority) 

 Screenwest (an incorporated association) 

 the State Library of Western Australia (a statutory authority) 

 the Western Australian Museum (a statutory authority) 

 the State Records Office of Western Australia (an administrative division of DCA which operates under its own 
Strategic Plan).  

The Swan Bells Foundation is an incorporated association supported by DCA.  The Bell Tower is a Culture and Arts 
Portfolio asset. 

Strategy 

The Department of Culture and the Arts Strategic Plan 2015-2017 articulates the role, vision, values and key priorities of 
the organisation. The Strategic Plan aims to: 

 communicate the purpose, vision and mission of DCA to its stakeholders; 

 communicate measurable strategic objectives for DCA; and 

 provide a framework for operational and business planning, prioritisation and alignment to strategic objectives. 

Purpose 

The cultural development of Western Australia through the provision of quality services and funding programs, and the 
implementation of Government policies and initiatives.   

Vision 

A valued and respected government agency that has the expertise to support the arts and culture sector in enriching 
the lives of the Western Australian community. 

Values 

 Professional  

 Innovative 

 Responsive 
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 
The Department of the Arts was established under the Public Service Act 1978 on July 1, 1986 subsequent to the repeal 
of the Western Australian Arts Council Act 1973. On 20 May 1997 the name was changed to the Ministry for Culture and 
the Arts under the Public Sector Management Act 1994. On 1 July 2001 the name was redesignated to Department of 
Culture and the Arts under Section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 as a result of a Machinery of 
Government Review. 

DCA operates under the provisions of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. In the performance of its functions, DCA 
complies with all relevant written laws. DCA links the Culture and Arts Portfolio to the Government’s framework and 
also contributes funding and administrative support to The Bell Tower, which is managed by the Swan Bells Foundation 
Inc. The Portfolio organisations and the Swan Bells Foundation Inc. are required to produce separate annual reports.  

The SRO operates as an administrative division of DCA. The State Records Act 2000 prescribes the role of the SRO, the 
State Archivist and Executive Director State Records (Director of State Records) and the State Records Commission.  

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 

The Hon David Templeman MLA 

LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED 

 Art Gallery Act 1959 

 Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 

 Museum Act 1969 

 Perth Theatre Trust Act 1979 

 State Records Act 2000 

The State Records Act 2000 provides for the keeping of State records and related purposes, including access to the 
State archives. The functions of the State Archivist and Executive Director State Records (Director of State Records) 
are prescribed at Section 73 of the State Records Act 2000. These functions include advising government 
organisations on record keeping, providing appropriate facilities and services to enable government and the public 
to access the State Archives Collection and providing advice and assistance to the State Records Commission. 
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LEADERSHIP 

The Corporate Executive is DCA’s key strategic leadership, planning and accountability group. It provides leadership, 
direction and guidance to DCA and provides oversight of DCA’s strategy, governance and committee structure. It is the 
peak decision-making body for DCA.   

Corporate Executive Members  

Director General Duncan Ord 

Assistant Director General Margaret Butcher 

Executive Director, Arts and Cultural Development Colin Walker 

Director, Infrastructure Carl Pekin 

State Archivist and Executive Director State Records Cathrin Cassarchis 

Director, Finance and Chief Financial Officer (July 2016 to February 2017) Shanaeya Sherdiwala  

Acting Director, Finance and Chief Financial Officer (February 2017 to June 2017) Leyla Nowbakht 

Director, Human Resources Pam Svenningsen 

Manager, Office of the Director General Lorna Folini 

Manager, Business Development and Innovation, State Library of  Western Australia Basil Manganaro 

DIRECTORATES  

Office of the Director General 

The Office of the Director General is responsible for ministerial liaison, government relations, strategic and operational 
planning, Ministerial and performance reporting, project management, business improvement, legal, risk management 
and business continuity. The Office also includes Corporate Affairs, Human Resources and Audit and Review.  

Arts and Cultural Development  

The Arts and Cultural Development Directorate develops and manages  strategic partnerships across government and 
the arts and cultural sector; undertakes research and evaluation towards the development of policy and 
implementation of related programs; and manages government investment in the sector through organisations 
funding, project funding and administration of related systems and processes. 

Finance 

The Finance directorate provides strategic advice on financial matters, management of financial resources, budgeting 
and advisory services along with transactional finance and procurement support to the DCA and Portfolio organisations. 

Human Resources 

Human Resources work to provide strategic Human Resource advice and support to the DCA, Screenwest and Perth 
Theatre Trust. Human Resource services are aligned to the Department of Culture and the Arts Strategic Plan 2015-
2017 and the interests of the WA public sector. Services provided by Human Resources include strategic workforce 
policy development, Human Resource consultancy, learning and development, payroll, recruitment; and classification 
support.  

Infrastructure  

The infrastructure directorate is responsible for ensuring the alignment of government investment in cultural 
infrastructure with the strategic and business needs of the culture and arts portfolio, through the effective planning, 
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delivery and management of infrastructure projects and programs for the portfolio. The directorate oversees the 
delivery of major infrastructure projects such as the New Museum Project, as well as the maintenance of over 40 
buildings in the Culture and Arts Portfolio, many of which have significant cultural and heritage value.  

State Records Office  

The State Records Office (SRO) is an administrative division of DCA that operates in accordance with the State Records 
Act 2000 (the Act) and under its own Strategic Plan. Established under the Act, the SRO supports the State Records 
Commission and provides consultancy, advice and training to assist State and local government authorities to comply 
with their information management responsibilities. The SRO is also the State’s archival authority, with responsibility 
for collecting, preserving and providing government and community access to the State archives collection.  

WORKFORCE  

Demographics at 30 June 2017 

Culture and Arts Portfolio Demographics Women Men 

Department of Culture and the Arts (including SRO) 97 45 

Art Gallery of Western Australia 44 21 

Perth Theatre Trust 120 85 

Screenwest 15 6 

State Library of Western Australia 128 54 

Western Australian Museum 138 78 

Total 542 289 

 

Department of Culture and the Arts - Employment Type  Women Men 

Permanent Full-time 34 20 

Permanent Part-time 9 0 

Fixed Term Full-time 8 7 

Fixed Term Part-time 5 2 

Casual paid 0 0 

*Other  1 0 

Total 57 29 

*includes staff on secondment and public sector trainees. 
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Organisational Chart 
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
DCA achieves its Government Desired Outcomes through the delivery of four key services. While DCA contributes to all 
of the Government’s Outcomes Based Service Delivery goals, its primary contribution is to the Government goal:  
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians. The table 
below illustrates the relationship between the Department Desired Outcomes and the most relevant Government goal. 

Government goal Desired Outcomes Services Service Provider 

Greater focus on 
achieving results in 
key service areas for 
the benefit of all 
Western Australians 

Outcome 1: 

A sustainable arts and cultural sector 
that enhances social and economic 
wellbeing. 

Arts industry support Department of 
Culture and the Arts 

Research, Policy 
Development, Information 
and Support 

Department of 
Culture and the Arts 

Outcome 2: 

Efficient and effective services to the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio and 
Government. 

Corporate and Asset and 
Infrastructure Support to 
the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio and Government 

Department of 
Culture and the Arts 

Outcome 3: 

Government records and the State 
archives are appropriately managed and 
accessible. 

State Information 
Management and Archival 
Services 

State Records Office 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 

DCA’s Strategic Plan 2015-2017 outlines six Corporate Objectives aligned with the Government Desired Outcomes for 
DCA. These Corporate Objectives provide an overarching framework to guide the identification, development and 
delivery of strategic initiatives and priority projects across DCA.  

Objective 1 Deliver the State Government’s arts and culture priorities. 

Objective 2  Provide leadership through strong evidence-based policy, planning and legislative reform. 

Objective 3  Promote a diverse, vibrant and sustainable cultural sector. 

Objective 4  Ensure effective management of the State Government’s investment in culture and the arts. 

Objective 5  Establish efficient and effective business systems and processes. 

Objective 6  Develop a workforce that is engaged, capable, adaptable and agile. 

SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH OTHER AGENCIES 
DCA shares responsibility for the delivery of Human Resources and Finance Services for the Culture and Arts Portfolio 
with the portfolio agencies.  
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SECTION 2: AGENCY PERFORMANCE 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
ACTUAL RESULTS VERSUS BUDGET TARGETS 

 2016/17 
Target (1)  

$000 

2016/17  
Actual  

$000  

Variation (2)  

$000 

Total cost of services (expense limit) 53,152 56,840 3,688 (a) 

Net cost of services 52,133 55,551 3,418 (a) 

Total equity 196,237 337,599 141,362 (b) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (1,656) 5,453 7,109 (c) 

Approved salary level 9,729 9,495 (234) 

# Targets and Actuals exclude interagency transactions  

(1) As specified in the Budget Statements 

(2) Further explanations are contained in Note 35 'Explanatory statement' to the financial statements. 

a) The variation is mainly due to an increase in grant commitments payable. 

b) The variation is mainly due to the amalgamation of land within the Perth Cultural Centre resulting in the transfer 
of land and buildings to the Department from the Art Gallery of Western Australia, Perth Theatre Trust and the 
Western Australian Museum. 

c) The increase in cash held is due to delays in the New Museum Project resulting in higher than expected cash 
carryover. 

 

Working Cash Targets 

2016/17  

Agreed Limit 

$000 

2016/17  
Target/Actual 

$000 

Variation 

$000 

Working Cash Limit (at budget) 2,685 2.685 N/A 

Working Cash Limit (at actuals) 2,576 2,257 (319) 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVES AND PRIORITY PROJECTS 
DCA’s corporate objectives guide the identification and allocation of priority to strategic projects with consideration of 
community and sector needs and Government desired outcomes. Each year, strategic initiatives are reviewed and 
updated to reflect changing circumstances, respond to new challenges and deliver Government priorities. Progress 
towards these initiatives is monitored by a senior departmental governance committee on a monthly basis and 
provided for the noting of the Minister for Culture and the Arts. 

 1. WORK WITH STATE GOVERNMENT PARTNERS TO MEET KEY MILESTONES FOR THE NEW MUSEUM PROJECT  

 The New Museum Project is currently in its design development phase and is on schedule to be completed in 
2020/21. The following key milestones were met in 2016-17: 

 Multiplex was appointed as the Managing Contractor for the NMP. The concept design by Multiplex and its 
design partners HASSELL and OMA was publically released in July 2016. 

 The Development Approval application for the New Museum works was received in March 2017. 

 Early site works for the New Museum were undertaken throughout 2016-17. These included removal of 
museum collections and demolition of non-heritage elements of the existing buildings on site. 

 Premier Mark McGowan MLA and Minister for Culture and the Arts David Templeman MLA participated in a 
turning of the sod ceremony at the New Museum site in May 2017.   

 Exhibition design contracts were awarded to Freeman Ryan Design Pty Ltd and Thylacine Design and Project 
Management Pty Ltd in June 2017.  The WA Museum has appointed an in-house team to implement the 
design documentation and oversee the delivery of the New Museum content, which will comprise exhibits as 
well as visitor engagement activities. The content works will run concurrently with the main works for 
completion ahead of the opening in 2020. 

The Central Energy Plant contract was commissioned in January 2017 and is scheduled to be completed by the 
end of 2017. This is expected to deliver long-term savings in energy costs for the Perth Cultural Centre (PCC). 

 2. DELIVER A PERTH CULTURAL CENTRE PRECINCT PLAN TO GUIDE DEVELOPMENT AND ACTIVATION WITHIN THE CENTRE, 
INTEGRATION WITH THE NEW MUSEUM AND INTERACTION WITH ADJOINING DEVELOPMENTS, INCLUDING YAGAN SQUARE  

 A preliminary Perth Cultural Centre (PCC) Planning Framework was endorsed by the Central Perth Planning 
Committee (the Committee) in August 2016. The draft Framework addresses linkages between the PCC and 
adjacent precincts, and is supported by key stakeholders including the State Heritage Office and cultural 
organisations in the PCC. Further development is ongoing with input from the Committee. DCA is working with 
MRA on strategies to further activate the PCC and increase revenue from commercial activity. 

 3. EFFECTIVELY DELIVER, REVIEW AND MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS ON CREATIVE REGIONS FUNDING, SCHEMES AND 
PROGRAMS  

 In November 2016, a mid-program efficiency review of the Royalties for Regions-funded Creative Regions 
program was conducted by KPMG. The delivery cost of the program was assessed at an efficiency ratio of 95 per 
cent, which meets the Department’s expectations for a partnership-based program with a variety of grant and 
service delivery models. Recommendations for future delivery of the program will be considered alongside State 
Government priorities pending review of Royalties for Regions funding by the Department of Regional 
Development. 
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 4. DEVELOP AND DELIVER A CONSOLIDATED STORAGE SOLUTION FOR STATE ARCHIVES AND COLLECTIONS HELD BY 
PORTFOLIO AND OTHER STATE GOVERNMENT AGENCIES (DIGITAL AND HARDCOPY) 

 An Application for Concept approval (ACA) for a consolidated storage solution was finalised in June 2017. The 
ACA provides an analysis of options that will meet the storage needs of the portfolio while also supporting public 
cultural and arts activities; encouraging community engagement and interaction; contributing to the vibrancy of 
the surrounding community; promoting social inclusion; and promoting Aboriginal heritage and reconciliation. 
The ACA recommends the adaptive reuse of an existing facility for further analysis through the development of a 
business case. 

 5. COMPLETE REVIEWS OF THE WRITING, VISUAL ARTS AND LIVE MUSIC SECTORS AND DELIVER RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
SUPPORT SECTOR SUSTAINABILITY  

 Writing Sector Review  

In late 2016, DCA commissioned a review of the Western Australian writing sector to determine future directions 
and opportunities for the writing sector in Western Australia. The review was undertaken by consultancy Positive 
Solutions, under governance of an independent reference group with expertise in writing sector development. 
The resulting WA Writing Sector Review Final Report and Conclusions was presented to the reference group in 
May 2017, and identifies issues and opportunities arising from recent policy and market changes. The reference 
group’s recommendations in response to the review will be presented for feedback from the sector in July 2017. 

Visual Arts Sector Review 

In October 2016, DCA released Present State - An inquiry into the visual arts sector in Western Australia 2016 as a 
discussion platform for the first stage of the Visual Arts Sector Review. The review was initiated to provide an 
insight into the state of the visual arts sector and provide decision-makers with a better understanding of the 
sector’s needs, priorities and options for future sustainability. A recommendation report addressing the findings 
of the discussion paper is being prepared for release in the 2017-18 year. 

Live Music Venues Review 

DCA released a Live Music Venues Review paper in 2015 outlining the state of the live music venue sector. Land 
use conflict, a complex regulatory system, and residents’ noise complaints were found to be key issues impacting 
the development of live music and performance venues. Following release of the paper, DCA established a Live 
Music Roundtable in 2016-17, chaired by the industry peak body West Australian Music Industry Association Ltd 
with membership of government, the national Live Music Office and industry representatives. Planned State and 
local government regulation reforms will help to ease restrictions on live music entertainment venues and 
events, reactivate areas and create more cultural tourism opportunities. 
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 6. IDENTIFY OPPORTUNITIES AND IMPLEMENT CHANGES TO REDUCE RED TAPE, REMOVE DUPLICATION AND INCREASE 
EFFICIENCIES ACROSS THE PORTFOLIO 

 Business Development and Innovation (ICT) 

ICT departments across the Portfolio have been integrated into a centralised team based at the State Library of 
WA. Portfolio-wide ICT governance and digital working groups have also been established to streamline and 
consolidate ICT decision making. Work is continuing on integration of data centres, email and phone systems 
across the Portfolio. 

Human Resources  

Upgrades to the Ascender system were implemented to increase processing efficiencies and compliance rates. 
An automated Payroll Cost Centre Certification tool has enabled better access for authorised managers and 
increased compliance rates from 50% to over 90%, while online leave management tools have been upgraded to 
facilitate planning, management, compliance and monitoring by line managers.   

Arts and Cultural Development 

Reforms to DCA’s grants programs, including transition to a digitised application and assessment process, have 
delivered efficiencies across a number of areas. In 2016-17, 50% more applications were processed compared 
with the previous year. Applications are now open year round and waiting times for applicants have decreased 
by 40%, with turnaround times from submission to contracting reduced from 42 to 25 business days.  

Use of the Culture Counts digital application, developed in partnership with DCA, has increased significantly over 
the past year, with over 400 arts and cultural organisations now trialling or using Culture Counts worldwide. In 
WA, the application is available at no cost to the recurrently funded arts organisations, and is estimated to be 
saving the arts and cultural sector in WA an estimated $950,000 in consultation and research costs annually. The 
application collects real time, crowd-sourced data on the intrinsic impact of cultural events, giving artists and 
organisations a platform for self or peer assessment, and benchmarking data to measure their performance.  

Infrastructure 

The establishment of a centralised asset maintenance team in July 2016 has enabled a more efficient and 
effective maintenance program with fewer staffing resources than previously required. The centralised team has 
streamlined the administrative processes and provides enhanced financial reporting.  

 7. COORDINATE AND IMPLEMENT BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT TECHNOLOGY WITH A VIEW TO INCREASING CONSISTENCY AND 
CONNECTIVITY OF PLATFORMS ACROSS THE PORTFOLIO  

 Work undertaken in the 2016-17 year includes: 

 Implementation of a single Service Desk portal, which includes a facility for automated on-boarding and 
termination of IT login accounts.  

 Integration of the Perth Theatre Trust, State Library of Western Australia and DCA IT networks to allow 
seamless IT communication across the Culture and the Arts portfolio. 

 In conjunction with the WA Museum, commenced the implementation of a pilot online portal to allow 
searching across all Culture and the Arts Portfolio digital collections. 

 Commenced implementation of Office Productivity Software which will deliver efficiencies across a number 
of areas, including ministerial and corporate reporting, document management and other related functions.  
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 8. DEVELOP A STRATEGY TO ADDRESS THE IMPACT OF GOVERNMENT WORKFORCE RENEWAL POLICIES 

 A Workforce Renewal Strategy for the Culture and Arts Portfolio was submitted to Treasury in late 2016. The 
paper identified potential savings for the Portfolio in the areas of technology efficiencies; use of entry level 
programs and training to increase agility and job flexibility; and redesign of positions based on essential 
responsibilities and job complexity.  

 9. SUPPORT THE WORK OF OTHER GOVERNMENT AGENCIES TO DELIVER OUTCOMES IN AREAS SUCH AS EDUCATION, 
JUSTICE, HEALTH, REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT, AND ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS  

 Whole of Government initiatives 

The Sub-Committee on Aboriginal Culture and Arts (SCACA) was established as a sub-committee of the Aboriginal 
Affairs Coordinating Committee. It is chaired by the Director General of DCA. Membership also includes the 
Directors General from the Departments of Aboriginal Affairs, Corrective Services and Education, and the WA 
Aboriginal Advisory Council. The SCACA’s role is to set policy directions and ensure coordination across 
Government in Aboriginal affairs. 

 Inter-governmental partnerships and programs 

DCA delivers a number of programs in partnership with local, state and federal government agencies. As at June 
30, DCA is working with six state and federal government agencies under formal Memoranda of Understanding 
(MOU). A new MOU was signed during the year with the Department of Aboriginal Affairs. During the year, DCA 
also established a new working partnership with the Department of Health. Key partnership initiatives for the 
2016-17 year include: 

 Arts and Health Policy Framework: DCA with Department of Health 

In late 2016, DCA and the Department of Health formed a working group which will collaborate on the 
development of an Arts and Health policy framework for Western Australia. 

 Connecting to Country: DCA with Department of Aboriginal Affairs 

In late 2016, DCA signed a MOU with the Department of Aboriginal Affairs to develop a new grants program 
which will support cultural exchange and ‘travel to country’ traditions within Aboriginal communities.    

 Revealed: Emerging Aboriginal Artists from WA: DCA  with Commonwealth Department of Communications 
and the Arts and Fremantle Arts Centre 

The annual Revealed: Emerging Aboriginal Artists from Western Australia is delivered through a tripartite 
partnership agreement with Commonwealth Government, State Government and local government. It is the 
State’s major showcase for Aboriginal art and a significant source of income for Aboriginal art centres and artists 
across WA, particularly those in remote areas. The 2017 Revealed event, comprising a professional development 
program, public symposium and marketplace, was held in April 2017. It featured artwork from 75 new and 
emerging Aboriginal artists and achieved sales of $438,000, an increase of 18% from the previous year. 

 Creative Regions: DCA with the Department of Regional Development 

DCA continued to deliver against its MOU with the Department of Regional Development for the $24 million 
Royalties for Regions-funded Creative Regions program.  In this third year of funding all five schemes were 
delivered. The Future Focus for Aboriginal Arts Centres scheme was finalised. 
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 Creative Connections and ArtsEdge: DCA with the Department of Education 

DCA and the Department of Education (DoE) partnership continued to address the objectives of the Creative 
Connections: An Arts in Education Partnership Framework. Guidance for individual artists, arts and cultural 
organisations and educators was provided through the facilitation of professional learning and networking 
events, and online resources through the ArtsEdge website. The final eight STREAM 1 projects supported through 
the Artist-in-Residence (AiR) Grants Program concluded in December 2016. Case study videos (available for 
viewing on Vimeo and YouTube) showcasing the creative partnerships of eight of the 45 projects supported 
during the program 2009-2015 were produced by the partners and publicly released in April 2016. DCA’s existing 
MOU with the DoE was extended for a 12 month period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 to allow for 
further consideration of the recommendations outlined in the independent consultant’s report received early 
2016. Both departments have commenced investigative work to identify existing arts education program 
frameworks and delivery networks in order to plan, design and implement a new MOU from 2018. 

  Percent for Art: DCA with the Department of Finance – Building Management and Works 

The State Government’s Percent for Art Scheme is managed in a partnership between DCA and the Department 
of Finance’s Building Management and Works. During the 2016-17 year, 25 new public art works valued at $3.17 
million were commissioned through the Scheme. 

 10. DEVELOP INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS AND STRATEGIES TO ENABLE CULTURAL EXCHANGE AND EXPAND MARKETS 
FOR WA ARTS AND CULTURAL PRODUCT  

 DCA facilitates cultural engagement with international partners to support artistic, market and audience 
development, extend cross-cultural awareness and enhance WA's trade, tourism and diplomatic profile. 

Partnership with National Base for International Cultural Exchange and Research in China 

In 2016, DCA signed a MOU with the National Base for International Cultural Exchange and Research in China 
with the objective of developing cultural exchange programs, internships and professional development 
opportunities for artists.   

 Chinese New Year 2017 program: Creative Industries Forum 

The State Government funded an extended Chinese New Year program in 2017.  As part of the event, DCA 
partnered with the Office of Multicultural Interests to host a Creative Industries Forum. The forum brought 
together some of WA and China’s most notable arts and culture sector representatives who shared their insights 
and experiences on working in China and collaborating with counterparts. 

 Partnership with Confluence: Festival of India  

In 2016, India’s Ministry of Culture and the Indian Council for Cultural Relations worked in collaboration with the 
Australian Department of Communications and the Arts to deliver Confluence festival events across Australia. 
DCA supported several events in Perth, which has paved the way for future collaboration between government 
agencies and local arts and cultural organisations.   

 11. IDENTIFY AND IMPLEMENT SOLUTIONS TO TICKETING AND CRM NEEDS TO SUPPORT ARTS AND CULTURAL VENUES 

 In 2015, DCA commissioned a review into the outsourced ticketing model utilised for Perth Theatre Trust-
managed venues including His Majesty’s Theatre, Subiaco Arts Centre, the State Theatre Centre, the Perth 
Concert Hall and Albany Entertainment Centre. A new ticketing model was approved by Government following 
the review, and in December 2016, DCA issued a public tender on behalf of PTT for supply of related services. In 
June 2017, Tessitura Network Inc. was awarded a contract to provide online and box office sales within venues 
supplemented by CRM functionality.    

http://www.artsedge.dca.wa.gov.au/
https://vimeo.com/user11036272
https://www.youtube.com/user/DeptEducationWA/featured
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 12. DEVELOP AN AGREED APPROACH TO THE MANAGEMENT OF STATE-OWNED BUILT CULTURAL INFRASTRUCTURE IN 
REGIONAL WA 

 A centralised Asset Maintenance Team (AMT) was established in mid-2016 to manage a portfolio of 
approximately 40 separate cultural infrastructure buildings, many of which are heritage listed. The AMT 
develops, manages and delivers a program of routine maintenance, breakdown services, low value maintenance 
projects and high value works via a Maintenance Service Arranger agreement with The Department of Finance’s 
Building, Management and Works. 

 13. PREPARE EVIDENCE-BASED PUBLIC POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS ON PLANNING, DIRECTION AND INVESTMENT IN PUBLIC 
ART  

 A review into the State Government’s investment in public art was undertaken in late 2016.  

 14. SUPPORT DEVELOPMENT OF THE PUBLIC GALLERIES SECTOR IN REGIONAL WA  

 In November 2016, DCA provided funding for the inaugural Regional Galleries Forum, which brought together 
over 80 artists and arts workers from regional galleries across WA. A report produced following the forum   
identified a number of priorities and recommendations for the sector, including the need for the formation of a 
public galleries association to provide advocacy for regional galleries and reduce the isolation of workers and 
artists in remote areas. As a result, GalleriesWest, an incorporated association comprising representatives of the 
regional sector, has been formed and will work collaboratively to support the sector. 

 15. COORDINATE DEVELOPMENT OF A STRATEGIC DIGITAL SERVICES MODEL THAT MEETS THE NEEDS OF THE PORTFOLIO AND 
WIDER COMMUNITY  

 A strategic Portfolio Business Innovation Management Group (PBIMG) and an operational Digital Working Group 
have been formed to collaborate on the implementation of a digital services model for the portfolio. The PBIMG 
will focus on a combined digital strategy for the Culture and the Arts portfolio. Work has also commenced on a 
new Investment Purpose statement that articulates what services are being delivered now and what services will 
be delivered in ten years in response to demand drivers. 

 16. IMPLEMENT FUNDING PROCESS AND PROGRAM REFORMS TO MEET AGREED GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT PRIORITIES AND 
SECTOR EXPECTATIONS 

 In 2016, DCA introduced a new grants funding model with the aim of improving grants delivery to better meet 
the needs of the sector. This new funding model represents a significant shift in the way DCA delivers funding. 
Part of the undertaking was to review the model after six months of operation (ending 23 September 2016). The 
report was completed and the recommendations accepted for implementation in 2017-18. The National Audit 
Office has identified DCA as a benchmark agency for efficiency.  

 17. FINALISE AND DELIVER STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS 2016-2031 

 Strategic Directions 2016-2031 was delivered in October 2016 by the Arts Leadership Group following an 
extensive consultation process with the sector and community. The document is the first long-term strategic 
direction developed for the arts and culture sector in Western Australia, and presents a road map for a unified 
approach by government, the community and private enterprise towards future sector development.  
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 18. PROMOTE AND HARNESS A RICH DATA CULTURE THROUGHOUT THE PORTFOLIO AND SECTOR 

 DCA undertakes comprehensive research and data activities that inform and underpin policy and program 
decisions. In 2016-17, DCA completed a number of policy papers, reviews and surveys including:  

 Research and discussion papers to support sector reviews: 

- Present State - An inquiry into the visual arts sector in Western Australia 2016 

- WA Writing Sector Review - Final Report and Conclusions 

- Writing Sector Review Reference Group Recommendations 

 Investing in Aboriginal Culture: The role of culture in gaining more effective outcomes from WA State 
Government services, May 2016 

 Public Art Policy Framework 

DCA partnered with other jurisdictions to support Australian Research Council projects, including: 

 Griffith University’s Making Music Work: Sustainable Portfolio Careers for Australian Musicians project   

 Queensland University of Technology’s  Australian cultural & creative activity: A population hotspot analysis 
project  

DCA partnered with the Commonwealth to fund the Integrating Art Production and Economic Development in 
the Kimberley research project with Macquarie University; Integrating Art Production and Economic 
Development in the Kimberley, 2015-2016. 

 19. ASSIST SCREENWEST TO ESTABLISH A SCREEN PRODUCTION FACILITY AT THE ABC STUDIOS AND ACHIEVE GREATER 
AUTONOMY 

 In late 2015, DCA and Screenwest commenced negotiations with the ABC to establish a screen production facility 
at the ABC studios to support planned structural changes to Screenwest. This process was successfully concluded 
in 2016-17, and on 1 July 2017, Screenwest will complete its transition from a government agency to an 
independent, not-for-profit entity. The State Government will continue to provide funding to Screenwest, as a 
grant instead of an appropriation. 
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ARTS AND CULTURAL SECTOR INVESTMENT 
ORGANISATIONS INVESTMENT (RECURRENT FUNDING) 

The Lotteries Commission Act 1990 requires that five per cent of annual net subscriptions are paid to the Arts Lotteries 
Account, which is then distributed by DCA through recurrent funding agreements that assist non-government arts 
organisations with the operational and artistic costs of delivering their annual program of activities. This funding 
provides a base from which organisations can generate additional income through sponsorship, box office earnings and 
other funding sources, and delivers significant social and economic benefits to the wider Western Australian community 
by enabling organisations to develop, deliver and promote innovative artistic and cultural programs of excellence. In 
2016-17, DCA distributed a total of $14,151,366 in recurrent funding, comprising $4,458,854 to Major Performing Arts 
Companies and $9,692,512 to organisations funded through the Organisation Investment Program.  

Major Performing Arts Companies 

DCA funds four Major Performing Arts (MPA) companies in partnership with the Australian Government through the 
Australia Council as part of a national approach to secure high level outcomes from the MPA companies. The MPA 
companies are funded through the National Framework for Government's Support of the Major Performing Arts Sector 
which was agreed by Cultural Ministers in August 2011. The Framework continues the partnership between Australian, 
State and Territory Governments to support artistic excellence and best practice governance and management in 28 
designated MPA companies across Australia. The four MPA companies in WA play a vital role in the development of 
artists and audiences, as well as being a large employer of artists and arts professionals in Western Australia. The total 
value of funding to MPA companies in 2016-17 was $4,458,854. 

Major Performing Arts company Actual ($) 

Black Swan Theatre 837,143 

WA Ballet Company 1,517,225 

WA Opera Company 967,069 

WA Symphony Orchestra 1,137,417 

Total Major Performing Arts Companies 4,458,854 

Organisations Investment Program  

Established in 2016, DCA’s Organisations Investment Program (the Program) is an open and competitive funding 
program intended to deliver public benefits across the artistic and arts/cultural sector; community and economy.  
Through the program, DCA supports non-government, not-for-profit professional WA arts and cultural organisations 
under one of three categories with specific investment terms and periods. Lead Organisations are contracted for a 
period of nine years and are engaged to provide infrastructure and services of scale and/or strategic significance. 
Established Organisations are those with a strong record of cultural excellence, and demonstrated ability to leverage 
partnerships and funding. Most organisations funded through the Program fall within this category. Established 
organisations are contracted for a three-year period, with an option to extend for another 3 years based on 
performance against nominated contributions during the term of the contract. Developing Organisations are emerging 
arts and cultural organisations that are considered to have strong potential and likely to benefit from stable investment 
and assistance in business planning, marketing and governance. They are contracted for a three-year period. The total 
value of funding provided to organisations through the Organisation Investment Program in 2016-17 was $9,692,512 
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Funded Organisations (OIP) Actual ($) 

Lead Organisations 

Country Arts WA 495,000 

PICA 710,000 

Total Lead Organisations 1,205,000 

Established Organisations 

Art on the Move 465,608 

Artrage Inc. 350,000 

Artsource 430,766 

Ausdance 185,000 

Awesome Festival 221,004 

Barking Gecko 500,000 

Community Arts Network 317,030 

DADAA 148,254 

FORM 308,599 

Fremantle Arts Centre 719,190 

Fremantle Arts Centre Press 342,624 

Goolarri Media 86,622 

KALACC 100,000 

Magabala Books 276,238 

Marrugeku 200,000 

Musica Viva 32,000 

Performing Arts Centre Society 250,000 

Propel Arts 140,596 

SPACED 220,000 

Spare Parts Theatre 472,350 

STRUT Dance 281,000 

Symbiotica 100,000 

Tura Events Co 320,000 

WA Music Industry Association  400,000 

WA Youth Jazz Orchestra 100,000 

WA Youth Orchestra 201,261 

WA Youth Theatre Company 89,264 

Yirra Yaakin Noongar Theatre 358,085 

Total Established Organisations 7,478,510 

Developing Organisations 

CO3 500,000 

PVI 100,000 

Last Great Hunt 200,000 

Lost and Found 100,000 

PCP 109,002 

Total Developing Organisations 1,009,002 

  

TOTAL ORGANISATIONS INVESTMENT PROGRAM 9,692,512 
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DEVOLVED FUNDING 

DCA contracts two non-government organisations to manage and deliver regional and community arts programs on its 
behalf.  In 2016-17, $1,119,722 was distributed to arts and cultural organisations and community projects via devolved 
funding through Country Arts WA and the Community Arts Network WA.  

Country Arts WA 

Country Arts WA manages two programs on behalf of DCA: The Core Arts Fund and Regional Performing Arts Touring 
Program. The Core Arts Fund provides financial support to regional arts organisations to coordinate a broad range of 
arts and cultural activities that engage their community. Organisations funded through the Core Arts Fund include Arts 
Margaret River, the Denmark Arts Council, Esperance Community Arts, Vancouver Arts Centre, Arts & Culture Christmas 
Island, Ravensthorpe Regional Arts Council, ARtS Narrogin, Northampton Old School, Theatre Kimberley, Exmouth 
Cultural Arts Centre, the Country Music Club of Boyup Brook and Nannup Music Club. The Regional Performing Arts 
Touring Program brings professional performing arts productions to regional communities that would not otherwise 
have regular access to live professional performances.   

Community Arts Network WA 

Community Arts Network Western Australia (CAN WA) manages the Catalyst Community Arts Fund which provides 
funding support to community-driven arts and culture activities that express local culture and identity and promote the 
values of community empowerment, social inclusion, respect for diversity and self-determination. 

Devolved Funding  Actual ($) 

Community Arts Network 312,303 

Country Arts WA 764,419 

Total Devolved Funding 1,076,722 

DCA GRANTS PROGRAMS 

DCA’s grants programs include Creative Development, Commercial Development, Community Engagement, Aboriginal 
Arts and Scholarship and Fellowships. These programs provide emerging and established artists and arts-workers, 
designers and musicians with funding assistance to undertake and deliver a broad range of discrete projects and 
activities across multiple art forms and disciplines. Applicants can apply year-round for grant requests up to $15,000 
through a relevant U-15k category. There is one major round per year for grant requests exceeding $15,000 (15k-Plus). 
In 2016-17, a total of $3,106,529 was distributed through the following programs: 

Creative Development 

DCA’s Creative Development Grants Program supports the development and growth of sustainable, professional 
creative practice in Western Australia. Grants are available for a range of projects and activities intended to advance 
the creative, professional and skills development goals of emerging and established artists, creative industry 
professionals, arts workers, cultural workers, groups, businesses and organisations. 

Commercial Development 

DCA’s Commercial Development Grants Program provides project funding to assist WA-based creative businesses to 
develop their commercial potential, increase business viability and extend market reach. Grants are available for 
projects or activities undertaken with the objective of increasing sales or business revenue, building audiences or client 
bases, accessing new markets or increasing market share, promoting or strengthening business/brand profile; or 
developing strategic business or commercial significance. 

  

http://www.artsmargaretriver.com/
http://www.artsmargaretriver.com/
http://www.denmarkarts.com.au/
http://www.esperancecommunityarts.org.au/
http://www.albany.wa.gov.au/facilities/vancouver-arts-centre/
http://www.artsandculture.cx/
http://www.artsandculture.cx/
http://raveaboutarts.blogspot.com.au/
https://www.facebook.com/ARtSNarrogin
http://www.northampton.wa.gov.au/
http://www.theatrekimberley.org.au/
https://www.facebook.com/ExmouthCAC
https://www.facebook.com/ExmouthCAC
http://www.countrymusicwa.com.au/
http://www.countryartswa.asn.au/www.nannupmusicfestival.org/
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Community Engagement 

DCA’s Community Engagement Grants Program provides funding for arts-based activities that promote the 
participation and active engagement of Western Australian communities in arts and culture. Grants are available to 
emerging and established artists, creative industry professionals, arts and cultural workers, community groups, 
businesses and organisations to undertake activities that have a clearly defined arts outcome, while also promoting or 
facilitating greater engagement of WA communities in the arts. 

Aboriginal Arts 

DCA’s Aboriginal Arts Grants Program provides project funding to support the long-term growth and sustainability of 
Aboriginal arts and culture in Western Australia. Grants are available for a range of activities that promote or facilitate 
greater engagement of Aboriginal communities in the arts, encourage the expression of traditional and contemporary 
Aboriginal culture, individuality, spirituality and empowerment through the arts; encourage the involvement of 
Aboriginal arts expertise, skills, knowledge and resources; support long term skills development goals for Aboriginal 
artists, arts workers and communities; support Aboriginal cultural maintenance and/or deliver artistic and social 
outcomes for Aboriginal communities through the arts. 

Scholarship and Fellowships 

DCA’s Scholarship and Fellowships program aims to develop and establish a high-calibre field of respected, nationally-
recognised WA artists and arts workers by providing outstanding candidates with funding to undertake an intensive 
period of creative development.  Scholarship and Fellowship grants are awarded in recognition of the applicant’s 
demonstrated potential and/or significant achievement in their field to date, and may support a range of projects, 
programs or activities, provided the scope, scale and impact exceeds that of activities supported through other DCA 
grants programs;  represents a significant development or variation to the applicant’s normal practice; and/or provides 
significant and demonstrated opportunities for the development or advancement of the applicant’s practice and/or 
profile. 

 Applications 
Received 

Applications 
funded 

Amount distributed 2016-17 ($) 
(actual) 

Community Engagement Program    

$15K Plus 14 9 263,345 

Under $15K 123 22 256,644 

Creative Development Program    

$15K Plus 33 13 431,676 

Under $15K 448 104 911,080 

Commercial Development Program    

$15K Plus 22 9 204,795 

Under $15K 273 55 452,234 

Aboriginal Arts Program    

$15K Plus 24 9 304,254 

Under $15K 45 10 87,586 

Scholarship and Fellowships Program    

Young People & Arts Fellowships   39,976 

Creative Development Fellowship   60,000 

Young People and the Arts Scholarship   60,000 

Performing Arts Mid-Career Fellowship   34,939 

Total Grants Programs 3,106,529 



DCA Annual Report 2016-17  |  30 

Annual Report 2016-17  |  30 

CREATIVE REGIONS PROGRAM 

The Creative Regions program is a $24 million investment funded by the State Government’s Royalties for Regions 
program and administered by DCA and the Department of Regional Development. During the 2016-17 year, a total of 
$5,475,856 was distributed through grants programs delivered directly by DCA or through funding agreements with key 
delivery partners CircuitWest and Country Arts WA.   

Scheme 1: Regional Venues Improvement Fund 

The Regional Venues Improvement Fund (RVIF) supports improvements and upgrades to performing arts and 
entertainment venues in regional Western Australia operated by Local Government Authorities (LGAs) and not-for-
profit organisations. The program’s objectives are to improve the quality of performing arts and cultural infrastructure 
in regional WA and contribute to the long-term sustainability of regional performing arts venues. During the 2016-17 
year, a total of $2,092,708 million was distributed through RVIF. 

Scheme 2: Programming and Business Development  

The Programming and Business Development Fund is jointly delivered by CircuitWest and DCA. The fund aims to 
support regional performing arts centres, venue staff, artists and arts worker to develop their businesses capabilities, 
increase the quality and variety of their programming, and better engage audiences. During the 2016-17 year, DCA 
provided $545,000 to CircuitWest to deliver a range of initiatives that supported the scheme’s aims, including needs 
analysis, benchmarking and the development of marketing and community engagement plans.  

In November 2016, DCA launched the New Work in the House grants program as part of the scheme. The program 
supports the development, commissioning, production and presentation of regionally-relevant performance-based 
works that will have its world premiere at a venue or festival event in regional Western Australia.  

Scheme 3: Future Focus for WA Aboriginal Art Centres 

The Future Focus for Aboriginal Arts Centres (Future Focus) was delivered by DCA with the support of the Department 
for Regional Development. The objectives of the program are to increase the viability of individual Aboriginal Art 
Centres, groups of art centres and peak sector entities. In 2016-17, four grants totalling $279,877 were provided to 
projects benefitting four Aboriginal Art Centres across Western Australia. 

Scheme 4: Regional Arts and Cultural Activity  

Scheme 4 comprises a suite of grants programs developed in agreement with DCA, and delivered by Country Arts WA.  
In 2016-17, $971,400 was provided to Country Arts WA to develop and expand new and existing partnerships with 
regional arts organisations, artists and arts workers.  
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Scheme 5: Regional and Remote Touring Fund 

The Regional and Remote Touring Fund supports touring of performing arts shows to regional and remote towns and 
communities in Western Australia. The objectives of the program are to increase the number and variety of 
performances touring to regional WA; contribute to the development of performing arts touring circuits in regional WA; 
provide opportunities for regional and remote communities to attend performing arts shows from the small-to-medium 
and major performing arts companies in their towns and communities; and enable local regional and remote 
communities to make decisions on their performing arts needs and agree on participatory arts activities. During the 
2016-17 year, a total of $1.6 million was distributed through the Regional and Remote Touring fund. 

 Applications 
Received 

Applications 
funded 

Amount distributed  
2016-17 ($)(actual) 

Scheme 1     

Regional Venues Improvement Fund 22 13 $2,092,708 

Scheme 2    

CircuitWest (Key Delivery Partner) 0 1 $545,000 

Scheme 3     

Future Focus for Aboriginal Arts Centres 4 4 $279,877 

Scheme 4    

Country Arts WA (Key Delivery Partner) 0 1 $971,400 

Scheme 5    

Regional and Remote Touring Fund 15 15 $1,586,871 

Total Creative Regions program  $5,475,856 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND PROGRAM INVESTMENT 

In addition to contestable funding programs, DCA makes strategic investments to fund policy initiatives and programs 
identified as a priority for Government and the sector, assist organisations with transitional funding assistance where 
required, or facilitate delivery of programs by arts and cultural sector partners on behalf of the Department.  

Organisation/Delivery partner Program/initiative  Actual ($) 

Arts Law Strategically-funded organisation   40,000 

Asialink  Strategically-funded organisation   60,000 

Bunbury Regional Art Gallery Strategically-funded organisation   170,000 

Children’s Book Council Strategically-funded organisation   48,337 

Geraldton Regional Art Gallery Strategically-funded organisation   85,000 

The Literature Centre Strategically-funded organisation   65,838 

Museums Australia (WA) Strategically-funded organisation   75,653 

Performing Lines MAPS Strategically-funded organisation   180,000 

Perth Fashion Festival Strategically-funded organisation   250,000 

Playwriting Australia Strategically-funded organisation   100,000 

Royal WA Historical Society Strategically-funded organisation   43,304 

Writing WA Strategically-funded organisation   194,366 

Total  1,312,498 
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Organisation/Delivery partner Program/initiative  Actual ($) 

Accelerate Partnership with the British Council to support development of 
Indigenous Western Australian cultural leaders 

30,000 

Andrew Ross Development of a concept paper for an Indonesian/Asian Multi-
Arts Festival  

5,000 

Art Collective WA Funding to support its annual program of activities. 35,000 

Art on the Move  Delivery of the inaugural Regional Art Galleries Forum  16,900 

Arts access Australia  Support to enable access and engagement in arts and disability at 
Meeting Place 2017 

4,000 

Arts and Culture Goldfields  Development of a program to engage the young people of 
Kalgoorlie Boulder 

45,000 

Arts Law Delivery of legal support packages for OIP-funded organisations, 
including education workshops and legal advice sessions  

29,960 

Awesome Funding to support subsidised/concession tickets for eligible 
members of the public 

25,000 

Barking Gecko Creative development and presentation of My Robot Perth* 158,205 

Black Swan State Theatre Company World Premiere of Skylab, a Black Swan State Theatre Company 
and Yirra Yaakin co-production 

150,000 

Black Swan State Theatre Company Presentation of Hellie Turners Lighthouse Girl* 200,000 

Chamber of  Arts and Culture To host the REMIX academy event in Perth aimed at exploring 
trends shaping the future of the cultural economy in WA 

30,000 

Chamber of Arts and Culture  Arts sector cultural ecology mapping  20,050 

Chamber of Arts and Culture  Professional development program for the arts and culture sector 10,000 

CIA - Brisbane Street Rental support for studio space 97,500 

CircuitWest  Funding for WA small to medium performing arts groups as part of  
WA Showcase ** 

170,800 

CO3 Delivery of schools touring program  21,500 

Country Arts WA Funding for WA small to medium performing arts groups as part of 
WA Showcase ** 

25,000 

DADAA Support for Conversations with Jenny Sealey – Access Beyond   
Consumption  - Presented by PIAF  and DADAA 

5,000 

Griffith University  Contribution to a partnership with Griffith University Making 
Music Work- Informing sustainable carers for Australian Musicians 
(ARC research project) 

4,000 

Indigenous Art Code Consumer 
Education 

Contribution toward the establishment and promotion of a set of 
standards for commercial dealing with Indigenous visual artists. 

10,000 

WA Music Industry Association Speaker for the 2016 WA Music Conference 3,203 

Lost and Found Tour to the Port Fairy Festival 7,653 

Margaret River Open Studios To support the Open Studios program of activity 39,997 

Melbourne Fashion Festival To support three established WA designers and one emerging 
designer to participate in the 2017 Festival 

7,500 

Museums Australia (WA) To develop an integrated training pilot program in the 
interpretation and exhibition development with Museums 
Australia and Art on the Move 

35,000 

Ochre Dance Company Presentation of the Good Little Soldier*  114,864 

Orchestral Support for the Majors Support for the Western Australia Ballet’s Fourth Season The 
Nutcracker  

300,000 

Performing Arts Centre  Society Activation of the Studio Underground: Summer nights 2018 15,000 
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Performing Arts Centre Society  To extend its support of the independent sector as part of the 
Theatre Works program 

200,000 

Performing Arts WA Research into alternative business models for the organisation 15,000 

Perth Fashion Festival  Speaker for the Creative Industries forum as part of the State 
Government’s expanded 2017 Chinese New Year Celebration 

5,000 

Perth International Arts Festival  Final payment to the Festival for the presentation of the Giants as 
part of the opening in 2015 

50,000 

PICA Theatre Works: contribution towards the employment of a venue 
manager/programmer for the PICA Performance Space  

100,000 

Sculpture by the Sea Contribution towards fees for WA artists participating in the event  15,000 

Spare Parts Puppet Theatre Season relocation to the Dolphin Theatre during venue 
renovations 

66,198 

Spare Parts Puppet Theatre Creative development funding for the Rules of Summer 38,344 

Spare Parts Puppet Theatre  Schools Touring previously devolved to Country Arts  21,500 

State Library WA  Contribution to the Disrupted Festival of Ideas 20,000 

STRUT A strategic partnership between STRUT Dance, Lost & Found 
Opera, Ochre Dance Company, Last Great Hunt and TURA New 
Music  

50,000 

Tura New Music Presentation of 2017 Regional Touring Program 140,000 

WA Circus School Contribution toward the instalment of a Circus Big Top in 
Fremantle  

20,000 

WA Music Industry Association Core IT replacement  35,000 

WA Symphony Orchestra WASO International Tour 2016 35,000 

WA Symphony Orchestra Rehearsal subsidy for the use of the Perth Concert Hall 165,000 

WA Symphony Orchestra Funding for essential upgrades to WASO’s IT systems 589,936 

WA Venues and Events  Development and production of two augmented reality projects 20,000 

WA Youth Theatre Company Creative Development funding for the Web 15,910 

Yirra Yaakin Development of Meth-A hip H Opera* 88,000 

Yirra Yaakin Schools touring previously devolved to Country Arts 21,500 

Total  3,327,520 

*Following closure of the Perth Theatre Company in 2015, funding was reallocated to selected organisations for 
delivery of one-off theatre projects.  

** Final year allocation of funding from the Performing Arts Regional Tours Boost, funded by Royalties for Regions. This 
program is now closed.  
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STATE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT AND ARCHIVE 
SERVICES 
The State Records Office of Western Australia (SRO) is the Western Australian public records authority with 
responsibility for managing the State archives collection and for regulating and providing guidance on government 
information management. The SRO operates as an administrative division of the Department of Culture and the Arts 
(DCA). The State Records Act 2000 prescribes the role of the SRO, the State Archivist and Executive Director State 
Records (Director of State Records) and the State Records Commission.  

The SRO is legislated to fulfil the following functions: 

 Assist government agencies to meet their information management obligations 

 Support the statutory role of the State Records Commission 

 Identify government information of permanent value to the State 

 Protect and preserve the State Archives Collection 

 Ensure the State Archives Collection remains permanently accessible to government, the people of Western 
Australia and the wider community. 

The SRO operates under its own Strategic Plan available at www.sro.wa.gov.au. 

SRO STRATEGIC PROJECTS PROGRESS/OUTCOMES 2016-17 

Develop a Plan to replace the Government 
archive loan service with the Digitisation 
Service 

The SRO introduced a Government Digitisation Service in April 2017, 
which will supplement the existing Government archive loan service. 
Following outcomes of a review, the changes have been implemented 
as a revision of the archive loan service rather than mandatory 
transition to a digital service. Agencies have been informed of the 
revised loans service and will be encouraged to use the new 
digitisation service where possible.  

Digitise State archives relating to 20th century 
Aboriginal affairs in partnership with the 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs 

In December 2015, the SRO, in partnership with the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs, commenced digitisation of 15,000 archival files 
relating to Aboriginal affairs in the 20th century. Digitisation will enable 
improved access to Aboriginal records for personal and historical 
research. The digitisation phase of the project was completed in 2016-
17, with 8,760 files (946,396 pages) digitised over the year.  

Develop the Online Recordkeeping 
Compliance Application (ORCA) to support 
whole-of-government red tape reduction 

The SRO has commenced development of an Online Recordkeeping 
Compliance Application (ORCA) to enable agencies to create and 
manage recordkeeping plans online rather than in hardcopy. The 
application will increase recordkeeping efficiency for agencies and 
enable SRO to improve provision of related services. A software 
development contract was awarded to NEC in February 2017 and 
formally commenced in April 2017. Stage 1 of the project (Solution 
Design) has been completed.  At June 30, NEC is midway through Stage 
2 (Software Development). Stage 3 (Software Deployment) is 
scheduled for the latter half of 2017. 

http://www.sro.wa.gov.au/
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Develop a whole of government strategic 
direction for capture, control and 
management of government’s digital assets 

A “Born Digital” strategy for whole-of-government was drafted in 
December 2016. The strategy aims to establish fully digital 
recordkeeping environments across government, with processes to 
ensure digital records are managed appropriately from the point of 
creation. Feedback on the strategy was sought from the Department 
of Finance and the Small Business Development Commission early 
2017. Broader agency consultation will be undertaken in the next 
financial year.  

In conjunction with the Australasian Digital 
Records Initiative (ADRI) and Aconex, 
establish effective information management 
concepts within software products which 
significantly enhance government functional 
operations and compliance requirements.   

Aconex is used by State Government agencies for the management of 
major projects and infrastructure works, including the Perth Stadium 
and New Museum projects. The SRO has identified a number of areas 
where improvements are required, such as the addition of disposal 
instructions, addressing potential risks of data loss during migration, 
and long-term data preservation without the need to maintain product 
licences beyond the life of a project. These issues have the potential to 
incur significant and ongoing costs to government when the data is 
required for later discovery and access.  The SRO has commenced 
discussions with Aconex to explore options for incorporation of 
essential management components within the system.    
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SECTION 3: SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING THE AGENCY 
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MACHINERY OF GOVERNMENT CHANGES 

On 28 April 2017, the Premier announced Machinery of Government (MOG) changes which would include 
establishment of a new Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries from 1 July 2017. The new 
Department will be formed through amalgamation of the Department of Culture and the Arts with the Department of 
Sport and Recreation, the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor, the Aboriginal History Unit of the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs, the Office of Multicultural Interests and the Local Government functions of the Department of Local 
Government and Communities. 

Preparations for the amalgamation commenced in late April 2017 with the formation of a MOG steering committee and 
working groups to plan for, and oversee the transition. The process of consolidating six previously separate agencies 
and operational divisions will commence following the establishment of the new department, and will involve review of 
functional requirements, redistribution of resources, realignment of priorities and synchronisation of operations as part 
of an overall restructure. The Department’s priority over this time will be to ensure an effective and efficient transition 
with minimal impact on staff, day-to-day operations and services to the community. Change management processes 
will be managed in accordance with the structural change management guide developed by the PSC and involve 
consultation with staff and relevant unions. The Joint Consultative Committee (JCC) will form part of the union 
engagement process.  

IMPACT OF LOTTERYWEST REVENUE ON ARTS AND CULTURAL FUNDING  

A decline in Lotterywest revenue will impact the funding available to recurrently-funded arts and cultural organisations. 
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SECTION 4: DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.  

Confirmation of ministerial priorities for DCA 

In a letter of expectation addressed to the Director General of DCA in May 2016, the Minister for Culture and the Arts 
confirmed budget allocations and a number of Ministerial priorities for the 2016-17 year. These priorities, along with 
other priority initiatives, were incorporated into DCA’s Strategic Plan. Progress against these initiatives is outlined in 
Section 2: Strategic Initiatives and Priority Projects. 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 
PRICING POLICIES 

Where fees are charged for provision of any DCA services, pricing is based on cost recovery principles outlined in the 
Department of Treasury’s Costing and Pricing Guidelines. 

The State Records Office (SRO) charges fees for training, repository storage services, government loans service, agency 
consultancies, copying, microfilming and digitisation services. The level of cost recovery for these services is 100%. 

DCA manages the King Street Arts Centre (KSAC). The ground floor foyer, studios and meeting rooms of KSAC are 
available for hire to DCA-funded arts organisations, not-for-profit organisations, and commercial hirers. 

There is limited opportunity for full cost recovery from the organisations funded by DCA, and the not-for-profit arts 
organisations. These organisations have discounted access to these spaces as part of the in-kind support provided by 
DCA to culture and arts sector. Commercial hirers have access to the spaces when they are not being used by the arts 
organisations. DCA continues to assess opportunities to generate revenue and will seek approval of changes through 
the annual Tariffs, Fees and Charges review.  

UNAUTHORISED USE OF CREDIT CARDS 

A number of DCA officers hold corporate cards where their functions warrant usage of this facility, and cardholders are 
reminded of their obligations under the DCA credit card policy. In 2016-17 there were five recorded uses of credit cards 
for non-work related purchases totalling $119.83. All five incidents were the result of inadvertent error on the part of 
the employee concerned and were reported promptly to the Chief Finance Officer for rectification. Disciplinary action 
was not taken on any of these occasions due to the circumstances, minor expenditure value and prompt settlement of 
the personal use amounts by the officers concerned.  

Personal use expenditure 2016-17 

Number of instances  5 

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure $119.83 

Personal use expenditure settled by due date (within 5 working days) $105.72 

Personal use expenditure settled after the period required $14.11 

Personal use expenditure outstanding at end of reporting period $0 

Number of referrals for disciplinary action Nil 
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

The New Museum Project (NMP) Business Case was approved in December 2012, with a capital funding allocation of 
$428.3 million. A Project Definition Plan (PDP) outlining the scope, delivery program, capital budget and procurement 
approach was approved in April 2014. The NMP is currently in its design development phase and is on schedule to be 
completed in 2020-21.  

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 
INTERESTS OF SENIOR OFFICERS  

All senior officers of DCA have acknowledged their understanding of governance disclosure requirements as outlined in 
the Treasurer’s Instructions and confirmed they have no interests in existing or proposed agency contracts, or matters 
which may give rise to a real or perceived conflict of interest.  

BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 
CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIO BOARDS 

Representative Position Period of membership Remuneration 2016-17 ($) 

Western Australian Art Gallery Board 

Duncan Ord  Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017 N/A 

Library Board of Western Australian  

Duncan Ord  Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017 N/A 

Perth Theatre Trust Board  

Duncan Ord Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2014 to 11 March 2016  

Colin Walker Ex-Officio board member 12 March 2016 to 30 June 2017 N/A 

Screenwest Board  

Duncan Ord  Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017 N/A 

Western Australian Museum Board  

Duncan Ord  Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017 N/A 

OTHER STATE GOVERNMENT BOARDS 

Representative Position Period of membership Remuneration 2016-17 ($) 

Healthway Board 

Duncan Ord  Ex-Officio board member 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2017 N/A 
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DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS PEER ASSESSOR POOL 

Every three years, DCA advertises state-wide seeking Expressions of Interest from artists and arts workers to participate 
as peer assessors for major grant rounds.  Successful applicants are appointed to a Pool of Peer Assessors following 
approval by the Minister for Culture and the Arts and endorsement from Cabinet. Peer assessors are invited to 
participate on panels based on individual expertise and experience, and/or as representatives of particular community 
sectors. Each panel includes a non-voting Chair appointed by DCA. Occasionally, where DCA is unable to identify 
suitable candidates from the existing pool (due to availability or conflicts of interest), other individuals with appropriate 
knowledge and expertise are called to participate in an assessment panel. These individuals are identified as 
consultants in the table below. Remuneration of peer assessors is based on actual participation in assessment panels 
and performance of related duties.  

Note: The current pool of peer assessors was appointed in 2013 for a three-year period ending in June 2016.  In 
September 2016, DCA sought Expressions of Interest from arts, cultural and creative practitioners and works for 
appointment to a new pool of assessors for 2017 to 2020. While awaiting approval of the new Pool from Cabinet, DCA 
has continued to appoint assessors from the previous pool to participate in panels as required. Members and 
remuneration for the 2016-17 year is detailed in the table below. 

Name Position Period of membership Remuneration 2016-17 ($) 

Allison Archer Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016 $1,400 

Chris van Tuinen Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A $1,400  

Colette McEntee Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $650  

David Whish-Wilson Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016 $1,400  

Dion Teasedale Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $300  

Erin Coates Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Gina McGill Williams Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016 $2,500 

Graham Wood Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Gregory Prior Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Guy Ghouse Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Ian Studham Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $900  

Irma Woods Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $500  

Jacqui Brown Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $900  

Jacqui Claus Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $500  

James Berlyn Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $500  

Jessica Darlow Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $900  

Kathryn Osborne Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $900  

Kelli McClusky Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $900  

Kynan Hughes Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Lachlan McDonald Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $1,320  

Lex Randolph Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $500  

Maitland Schnaars Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $1,400  

Michelle White Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016 $2,360  

Nikki Miller Peer Assessor - Consultant N/A  $1,320  

Paige Gordon Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $900  

Pamela Gaunt Peer Assessor - Pool 1 Sept 2013 to 30 June 2016  $900  

  Total $32,870 
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RECORDKEEPING PLAN  
DCA 

As required under the State Records Act 2000 (the Act), DCA’s Recordkeeping Plan was reviewed and a report of the 
review was submitted to the State Records Office in November 2015. Recordkeeping officers monitor, review and 
update practices to maintain and increase the efficiency and effectiveness of DCA’s recordkeeping and use of DCA’s 
electronic recordkeeping system. Regular recordkeeping training is provided to all new and existing staff to raise 
awareness of recordkeeping responsibilities and provide instruction in the use of recordkeeping systems. Support for 
the recordkeeping system is provided by the Information Management Unit as required.  The capture and registration 
of corporate information is monitored to identify gaps in usage. The portfolio’s induction program addresses employee 
roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan. 

State Records Office 

The State Records Office’s Recordkeeping Plan, RKP 2013056, was approved by the State Records Commission on 6 
December 2013.  Since the Plan’s approval, the State Records Office has completed all of the areas identified for 
improvement in the Plan. Ongoing recordkeeping training sessions, and induction programs for new staff, are 
conducted as needed.  

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
Under Schedule 2 of the Regulations of the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (the Act) DCA coordinates freedom of 
information applications for Portfolio organisations. As prescribed in Section 96 of the Act, DCA publishes an up to date 
information page confirming DCA’s commitment to the right of all Western Australians to have access to government 
information in accordance with the Act. The information page is available on DCA’s website and gives details on how a 
person can apply for access to DCA’s documents. Two FOI applications were received during the 2016-17 year. 

RESEARCH AND ADVERTISING EXPENDITURE 
Expenditure incurred by DCA in relation to advertising agencies, market research organisation, polling organisations, 
direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations during the financial year is detailed below in compliance 
with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907. 

EXPENDITURE TYPE  2016-17 ($) 

Expenditure with Advertising Agencies 0 

Expenditure with Market Research Agencies 
 
 

 

Catalyse Pty Ltd. 8,785 

10 Thousand Feet 1,663 

Shaping the Future Survey (Audience Evaluation) 82 

Survey Monkey (Audience Evaluation) 348 

Expenditure with Polling Agencies 0 

Expenditure with Direct Mail Agencies 0 

Expenditure with Media Advertising Agencies 
 

Lasso Productions (New Museum Project) 18,260 

Facebook (New Museum Project) 199 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  29,337 
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN  
Required Outcome 2016-17 Initiatives  

Outcome 1 

People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the services of, and any events organised 
by the Department.  

 

Data collated through DCA’s Organisation Investment Program for 2016-17 
show: 

 811 artists with disabilities were engaged in the creation and 
presentation of work. 

 2,429 events/activities targeted people with disabilities, and three 
new works engaged people with disabilities in their creation. 

 2,900 attendees - People with disabilities, at events targeting 
people with disabilities. 

 103 people with disabilities engaged in the creation of new work 
and 933 people with disabilities engaged in activities/events. (total 
1036 participants) 

The State Records Office (SRO) implemented a new community service to 
digitise State archives on request for members of the public, for a modest 
charge. This new service is intended to obviate the need for public clients 
to visit the State Records Office Search Room to access archival material. 
Some people with disability have previously expressed to the SRO the 
difficulty in visiting the public Search Room. Clients using this new service 
are mailed a CD containing the digital copies of requested archives. 

 

Screenwest led the Western Australian screen industry in the 
development and publication of the Western Australian Screen Industry 
Diversity and Inclusion Roadmap. The Roadmap is a five-year strategic 
document based on extensive industry and public consultation and is 
designed to guide the screen industry to achieve a community industry 
and screen content that more closely reflects the overall diversity of 
Western Australia’s population, understands the value of diversity and 
promotes inclusivity in all its activities.  

  

Outcome 2 

People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the buildings and other facilities of the 
Department. 

 

Access improvements to comply with the Disability Discrimination Act 
(DDA) included replacement of 4 lifts at the State Library of WA, additional 
tactile indicators and colour contrast on stairs at Perth Theatre Trust 
venues and Perth Institute for Contemporary Arts. 

Consultation with people with disabilities, advocates and their carers 
continued on the New Museum project with the focus on providing advice 
on content development and wayfinding for visitors. 

Outcome 3 

People with disabilities receive 
information from the Department in a 
format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are 
able to access it.  

 

Publications, including the grants handbooks and grant application forms, 
follow the typeface, branding and layout guidelines contained in DCA’s 
style guide. This complies with the Disability Services Commission 
guidelines for making information accessible. The DCA website is 
formatted to meet all requirements detailed by Web Content Accessibility 
Guidelines 2.0.  All current DCA publications are available for viewing or 
download from the DCA website. All videos have transcripts attached. 
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Outcome 4 

People with disabilities receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff 
of the Department as other people.  

A presentation on the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan is included the 
Induction Program for all new DCA, State Records Office and Screenwest 
staff.  

Outcome 5 

People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to the Department.  

A complaints process covering DCA, Screenwest and the State Records 
Office is available online. Feedback and complaints mechanisms are in 
place and are being reviewed to ensure they are being appropriately 
implemented. 

Outcome 6 

People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by 
the Department.  

 

To support people with disabilities, their families and carers to attend 
external consultations and public gatherings, DCA provides event 
information in clear, concise language and in accessible formats. It also 
holds events in accessible venues and provides consultation information in 
alternative formats, on request.   

Outcome 7 

People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain 
and maintain employment with a public 
authority.  

 

Information and policy aimed at encouraging and facilitating the 
recruitment and retention of people with disability has been incorporated 
within DCA’s Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Manual. All staff 
can access the information through the DCA intranet. DCA, in partnership 
with the Public Sector Commission, has commenced support for a trainee 
with a disability to create to work in the department and portfolio. 
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND 
ETHICAL CODES  
PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS IN HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT  

Human Resources services provided by DCA include payroll, recruitment, classification and establishment, performance 
development, training, worker’s compensation management, employee relations and occupational safety and health.  
Policies, procedures and guidelines for these services are developed and maintained in accordance with Public Sector 
Standards in Human Resource Management, as established by the Public Sector Commission. The policies, procedures 
and guidelines are freely accessible on the Department’s intranet. DCA employees are further informed via internal 
communications channels such as Sightline and DG emails to increase awareness of their responsibilities and 
competency in meeting the required standards.  

Employment 

The Human Resources team facilitates compliance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Employment Standard and 
related instructions through the maintenance of comprehensive recruitment guidelines and provision of advice to staff 
and management. No breaches of the Employment Standard were lodged in the 2016-2017 financial year. 

Performance Management 

DCA’s performance management system supports compliance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Performance 
Management Standard by linking employees’ work priorities and development plans with the strategic and operational 
plans to support delivery of DCA’s outcomes. No breaches of the Performance Management Standard were lodged in 
the 2016-2017 financial year. 

Redeployment 

The Human Resources team manages all redeployment and movement of staff surplus to requirements in accordance 
with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Redeployment Standard and related legislation. No breaches of the 
Redeployment Standard were lodged in the 2016-2017 financial year. 

Termination  

The Human Resources team ensures all terminations of employment arrangements are processed in accordance with 
the Public Sector Commissioner’s Termination Standard and related legislation. No breaches of the Termination 
Standard were received in the 2016-2017 financial year. 

Discipline  

The Human Resources team maintains policies to ensure compliance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Discipline 
Standard. In accordance with s.96 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the breach of standard procedures do 
not apply to the Discipline Standard. 
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ETHICAL CONDUCT 

Public sector code of ethics  

All employees are required to undertake Accountable Ethical Decision Making (AEDM) training which introduces them 
to the Public Sector Code of Ethics. In addition, DCA encourages employees to attend relevant workshops conducted by 
the Public Sector Commission, Equal Opportunity Commission and the Corruption and Crime Commission. Human 
Resources ensures all departmental policies and guidelines in relation to the management of employees are compliant 
with the Public Sector Code of Ethics. There were no breaches of the Code of Ethics during the financial year. 

Culture and Arts Portfolio Code of Conduct 

All DCA employees are required to acknowledge the Culture and Arts Portfolio Code of Conduct on commencement of 
employment. The document outlines expected standards of conduct, decision making, ethical behaviours and principles 
of personal integrity, accountability and relationships with others. All DCA employees undertake AEDM training which 
provides an overview of the Code of Conduct. There were no breaches of the Code of Conduct during the financial year. 

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making (AEDM) 

All DCA employees are required to undertake AEDM training on commencement, and every three years after. The 
online module provides a broad understanding of the standards of behaviour and values expected of employees to fulfil 
their public service responsibilities. As at 30 June 2017, 99% of DCA employees have completed AEDM training within 
the past five years. 

OTHER DCA POLICIES AND GUIDELINES 

Employment Screening Policy  

DCA undertook a review to identify Positions of Trust within the agency to ensure requisite certifications such as 
national police certificates and Working with Children Checks had been sighted and recorded for employees occupying 
these positions. DCA has commenced the process of bringing documentation up to date for relevant employees.  

Grievance Policy 

DCA’s Grievance policy is being reviewed in consultation with the Department of Local Government and Communities 
(DLGC), the Department of Sport and Recreation (DSR) and the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor (RGL), which 
will form the new Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC) on 1 July 2017. The updated 
policy will be implemented across DLGSC in the new financial year. 

Family Violence Policy 

Domestic violence leave is a new entitlement proposed for inclusion in the Public Service Government Officers General 
Agreement 7 (PSGOGA 7). DCA has adopted the Family Violence Leave Policy used by the Department of Local 
Government and Communities. A review of the policy will be undertaken following finalisation of the PSGOGA 7.  
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS  
SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY 

DCA is committed to the elimination of systemic discrimination, particularly of a racial, cultural and religious nature, 
from its policies, practices and services. A Substantive Equality Policy provides guidance for the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio agencies in the management and elimination of systemic discrimination. 

A Substantive Equality Reference Committee made up of representatives from each Portfolio agency meets on a needs 
basis to discuss strategies and policies. A presentation on substantive equality forms part of the portfolio staff induction 
program. The policy is available to Portfolio staff through the intranet.   

The DCA Substantive Equality Implementation Plan was finalised in 2016. 

The following items from the plan have been implemented: 

 Establishment of substantive equality champions in each of the Portfolio agencies to guide and promote 
outcomes.  

 Appointment of a senior officer (the Director HR) to chair the substantive equality meetings, provide leadership 
to the members and negotiate with Equal Opportunity Commission as required.  

Work on the following items has commenced: 

 Promotion of substantive equality frameworks through DCA and Portfolio newsletters and internal publications.  

 Embedding substantive equality principles into strategic and operational business planning.  

 Review of recruitment and selection policies, procedures and practices to reflect the needs of diversity groups.  
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WORKFORCE AND DIVERSITY INDICATORS 

Workforce Indicator Table 

 DCA Only Whole of Portfolio 

Measure Target Actual Target Actual 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 1% 3% 1% 2% 

Women in management 41% 63% 41% 59% 

People with disability 3% 1% 3% 2% 

Culturally diverse backgrounds 16% 12% 16% 11% 

Youth aged under 25  9% 4% 9% 6% 

Employees Aged < 49 62% 54% 62% 52% 

Employees Aged 50-59 25% 23% 25% 24% 

Employees over 60 13% 15% 13% 18% 

Permanent Employees 74% 60% 74% 57% 

Fixed Term Employees 9% 39% 9% 24% 

Part Time Employees 17% 20% 17% 21% 

Outcomes and initiatives 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander diversity indicators exceeded targets for 2016-17. A number of initiatives have 
contributed to achievement of these outcomes. 

 The first DCA Aboriginal Cadetship program was established in 2016-17. The Cadetship program provides 
opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders undertaking a university degree to obtain work 
experience to support their current study. One Aboriginal Cadet commenced with DCA in June 2017 with a 
second due to start in July 2017. 

 As part of the DCA Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2015-2020, DCA hosted a series of Aboriginal Cultural 
Awareness workshops for employees. The workshops, facilitated by an external consultant, aimed to increase 
employees’ awareness of the experiences and cultural heritage of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders.  

Youth, people with disability and individuals from culturally diverse backgrounds are underrepresented in the Portfolio. 
DCA is working to address these gaps through a range of training and recruitment initiatives.  

 DCA’s recruitment guidelines are being reviewed to help provide clear, simple messages to line managers and 
staff on common workforce and diversity issues. 

 All DCA employees are encouraged to complete the online Diverse WA Cultural Competency Training and the 
Public Sector Commission’s Aboriginal Cultural Awareness training modules. These modules promote and 
support better ways to work and engage with people from different diversity groups. 

 DCA continues to explore and develop opportunities for cadetships, internships and traineeships that will 
provide work experience for young people, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders and people with disability.  

 A total of 11 cadets, interns and trainees were placed in positions across the Portfolio in 2016-17, compared with 
nine in 2015-16 and four in the 2014-2015 financial year. 

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT 

DCA is committed to occupational safety and health and injury management in compliance with the Occupational 
Safety and Health Act 1984 and the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.   
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 All staff have access to the Employee Assistance Program and are made aware of this service at induction, via 
the DCA Intranet and communications from Human Resources, line managers and the Director General.   

 DCA facilitates OSH consultation through the OSH committee, the election of safety and health representatives, 
hazard and incident reporting, and workplace inspections.   

 Staff are made aware of the safety and health processes at induction, through specific OSH training and 
information available through the DCA intranet.   

 An annual implementation plan addressing safety and health actions is in place.  In 2016-17 the OSH and 
workers compensation content on the DCA intranet was reviewed and updated. 

OSH Performance Indicator Table 

 

Measure Actual Results Results against Target 

2015-16 2016-17 Target Comment on Result 

Number of Fatalities 0 0 0 Achieved 

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence 
rate 

0 0 0 Achieved 

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 0 0 0 Achieved 

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within 13 weeks 

N/A N/A 80% Achieved 

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within 26 weeks 

N/A N/A 80% Achieved 

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities 

70% 0% 80% No formal training was 
conducted. Training will 

resume in the next 
financial year 
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SECTION 5: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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INTRODUCTION 
DCA’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been developed in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 to 
evaluate the portfolio’s performance in achieving the Government’s Desired Outcomes and provide an overview of the 
critical and material aspects of service provision. The KPIs measure performance at the Department.   

DEPARTMENT SERVICES 

Services provided by DCA are listed in the 2016-17 Budget Papers.  Funding for these services is provided by Parliament 
through a direct appropriation from Treasury to the Department. 

The services are: 

 Arts Industry Support 1.

 Research, Policy Development, Information and Support 2.

 Corporate and Asset and Infrastructure Support to the Culture and Arts Portfolio and Government 3.

 State Information Management and Archival Services 4.

GOVERNMENT GOALS 

The Department of Culture and the Arts contributes to the achievement of the Government Goal: 

“Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians”. 

GOVERNMENT DESIRED OUTCOMES 

The Government’s Desired Outcomes for the Department are:  

 A sustainable arts and cultural sector that enhances social and economic wellbeing. 1.

 Efficient and effective services to the Culture and Arts Portfolio and Government. 2.

 Government records and the State archives are appropriately managed and accessible. 3.

Achievement of the department’s Government Desired Outcomes will facilitate the achievement of a creative 
community that participates in and values culture and the arts as essential to the quality of life and well-being of all 
people throughout Western Australia. The KPIs describe the level of success of the services provided by the department 
in fulfilling the Outcomes. 

MARKET RESEARCH 

DCA commissioned Catalyse Pty Ltd to conduct the annual Arts Monitor survey that captures Key Effectiveness 
Indicators for DCA and Screenwest.   

Since 2016 the survey has been conducted using an omnibus panel methodology FlashPoll Online. In 2017 a sample of 
1,035 respondents across Western Australia gives a theoretical survey error of ± 3.05% at the 95% confidence interval. 
There were 813 respondents (80 per cent) within the Perth Metropolitan area and 222 (20 per cent) in the regional 
areas. The survey is in line with the international standard for Market, Opinion and Social Research, the ISO 20252. In 
2017, additional demographic data was collected from the respondents. This included households where someone 
identifies as being an Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander, being born overseas, and/or mainly speaking a language 
other than English at home. Households where someone is affected by a disability or impairment were also identified. 

The DCA Key Effectiveness Indicator measure captured through this market research is for the public value of the 
contribution of arts and culture to the State’s identity and community.  
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GOVERNMENT DESIRED OUTCOME 1:  
A sustainable arts and cultural sector that enhances social and economic wellbeing. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Number of Department funded works presented and/or developed 
(Annually) 

11,566 11,461 12,513 

Number of paid attendances to funded organisations works 817,968 782,430 814,552 

Ratio of Government funding to other income 1:5.39 1:4.14 1:5.98 

Public value of the contribution of arts and culture to the State’s identity 
and community (a) 

66 69 68 

(a) There has been a change to the methodology for calculating the index score for this indicator. The methodology 
change has been adopted to reflect best practice so that the index score has a zero base. As a result, the index score 
more accurately reflects the range of survey responses from zero to 100.  The 2015-16 Actual and 2016-17 Target have 
been recalculated to reflect this new methodology 

Explanatory Notes  

The first indicator represents the number of DCA funded works presented and/or developed (annually) as reported by 
funded organisations, representing a large component of Government supported arts engagement in the State. The 
figure is aggregated from DCA funded organisations reporting and is used to track the variations between planned and 
funded activities and actual reported events and activities.   

The second indicator represents the total number of paid attendances to funded organisation activities or events, 
excluding free events and complimentary tickets. This represents the level of return through ticket sales and 
subscriptions funded organisations receive for their programs and activities. The decrease in the number of paid 
attendances to funded organisations’ works is a reflection of conservative estimates and budgeting in the current 
climate from the organisations. 

The third indicator represents the ratio of Government funding provided by DCA to funded organisations against 
income from other sources. This includes other income sources (government, sponsorship and private giving). This ratio 
indicates the leverage that funded organisations make on their DCA investment. In 2016-17 this indicator shows an 
average of $4.14 of other income generated for every $1.00 of funding provided to organisations by DCA. The variation 
is a result of a significant decrease in private sector support received by arts organisations funded by the Department. 

The fourth indicator represents the sense of public value generated from the contribution of arts and culture to the 
State’s identity and community. The Arts and Culture Monitor survey is used to provide data for this Indicator. 
Respondents are asked the value of the contribution on a five point scale from ‘no value at all’ to ‘very valuable’. The 
survey asks two questions with the results combined to provide an average score:  Question (a) ‘how valuable is the 
contribution of arts and culture to your sense of community in WA,’ which resulted in an index score of 68. Question (b) 
‘how valuable is the contribution of arts and culture to the identity of the State,’ which also resulted in an index score 
of 70, resulting in a combined average index score for the indicator of 69. The 2015-16 actual has been amended to 68 
to reflect the change in methodology. It was previously reported as 74. 
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Service 1: Arts Industry 
Support 

Grants Operations Expense as a Percentage 
of Direct Grants Approved 

5.6% 4.1% 6.7% 

Service 2: Research, Policy 
Development, 
Information and Support 

Research, Policy Development, Information 
and Support Expense as a Percentage of 
Direct Grants Approved 

4.7% 3.9% 5.7% 

Explanatory Notes  

These services determine the Grants Operations expense as a percentage of Direct Grants Approved for the following 
services provided by the Arts and Cultural Development program. 

a) Arts Industry Support 

b) Research, Policy Development, Information and Support 

The percentage is calculated by taking the total operating expenditure for the Division and allocating the expenditure 
based on FTE’s. For 2016-17, the percentage split between the two areas was 51% to Arts Industry Support and 49% to 
Research, Policy Development, Information and Support. 

The reduction in the percentages against the 2016-17 Target is due to a reduction in grants administration costs 
resulting from system improvements through the Online Grants Management System and efficiencies in processing 
times. 
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GOVERNMENT DESIRED OUTCOME 2:  
Efficient and effective services to the Culture and Arts Portfolio and Government.  

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Percentage of annual infrastructure maintenance budget expended on 
Portfolio infrastructure maintenance requirements 

80.0% 99.4% 91.6% 

Explanatory Notes  

This indicator represents the percentage of the Department’s annual infrastructure maintenance budget that has been 
expended on the maintenance requirements of the Culture and Arts Portfolio. 

The difference between the 2016-17 Target and the 2016-17 Actual is due to the completion of a significant number of 
maintenance projects in the reporting period, such as new staff and goods lifts in the Alexander Library Building, roof 
treatments to the Maritime Museum, and equipment and systems upgrades at His Majesty’s Theatre. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Service 3: Corporate and Asset and 
Infrastructure Support to the Culture and 
Arts Portfolio and Government 

Average Cost of Service per 
Full Time Equivalent 

$17,841 $19,382 $19,454* 

* 2015-16 Actuals has been restated to reflect the New Museum recurrent expenditure. 

Explanatory Notes  

This service determines the average cost per FTE equivalent provided for corporate, asset and infrastructure support to 
the Culture and Arts Portfolio. The increase in the average cost of service is primarily related to the reduction in FTE’s 
across the portfolio. 
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GOVERNMENT DESIRED OUTCOME 3:  
Government records and the State archives are appropriately managed and accessible.  

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Level of compliance with State Records Commission Standards as 
implemented by government agencies 

93% 90% 89% 

Percentage of archival resources to which the State Records Office 
provides an information service 

21% 21% 22% 

Explanatory Notes  

All government agencies are required to submit their recordkeeping plan to the State Records Office (SRO) which is a 
division of the Department. The Recordkeeping Plan (new or amended) or Recordkeeping Plan Review Report received 
during the reporting year is evaluated against each of the State Records Commission Standards (SRC Standards 1 – 8). 
The level of compliance is the extent to which agencies meet these requirements. Compliance data is compiled from 
self-evaluation ratings provided by each agency that is assessed by the SRO.  

The reduction in the level of compliance against the 2016-17 Target is a result of an increased number of agencies 
failing to meet the outsourcing and digital recordkeeping requirements of the SRC Standards. 

The figures for archival resources which the SRO provides an information service are based on: 

a) the number of State archives currently held by State and Local Government organisations that are due for 
transfer to the SRO, and 

b) the number of State archives already in the custody of the SRO 

In 2016-17, the SRO provided an information service to 21% of the State’s hardcopy archives. The SRO is unable to 
provide an information service to agency-held archives until they are physically transferred to the SRO. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

 2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

Service 4: State Information 
Management and Archival Services 

Cost per Access Service  $10.16 $7.92 $7.61 

Explanatory Notes  

This service is related to the State Information Management and Archival services provided by the State Records Office.  
The cost per access is determined by taking 50% of total cost of services against the number of access services provided 
during the year. 

The decrease in the cost per access service is due to an increase in the number of accesses. 
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 SECTION 6: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES 
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 Notes 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

COST OF SERVICES    
Expenses    
Employee benefits expense 6, 31 11,875 16,425 
Supplies and services 8 3,371 3,802 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 1,130 1,219 
Accommodation expenses 10 8,548 4,641 
Grants and subsidies 11 40,933 41,197 
Other expenses 12 181 241 

Total cost of services  66,038 67,525 

    
Income    
Revenue    
User charges & fees 14 291 279 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 15 234 90 
Other revenue 16 306 355 

Total Revenue  831 724 

    

Total Income other than Income from State Government  831 724 

NET COST OF SERVICES  65,207 66,801 

    
Income from State Government    
Service Appropriation 17 52,709 54,473 
Services received free of charge   579 808 
Royalties for Regions fund   7,472 5,065 
Grant and subsidies from State Government   460 - 

Total Income from State Government 17 61,220 60,346 

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD  (3,987) (6,455) 

    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
Items not classified subsequently to profit or loss    
Change in asset revaluation reserve 29 (3,301) (3,104) 

Total other comprehensive income  (3,301) (3,104) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  (7,288) (9,559) 

 
See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2017 

 Notes 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 30 20,187 16,494 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18, 30 1,740 31 
Receivables 19 905 1,385 
Other current assets 21 229 268 

Total Current Assets  23,061 18,178 

    
Non-Current Assets    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18, 30 52 - 
Amounts receivable for services 20 5,648 4,654 
Property, plant and equipment 22 330,539 85,260 
Intangible assets 24 851 778 

Total Non-Current Assets  337,090 90,692 

TOTAL ASSETS  360,151 108,870 

    
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
Payables 26 25,533 15,812 
Provisions 27 2,414 2,152 
Other current liabilities 28 828 301 

Total Current Liabilities  28,775 18,265 

    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Provisions 27 479 1,239 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  479 1,239 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  29,254 19,504 

NET ASSETS  330,897 89,366 

    
EQUITY    
Contributed equity 29 309,642 60,823 
Reserves 29 37,550 40,851 
Accumulated deficit 29 (16,295) (12,308) 

TOTAL EQUITY  330,897 89,366 

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'. 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 Notes 
29       

Contributed  
Equity 

$000 

Reserves 
$000 

Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

$000 

Total Equity 
$000 

Balance at 1 July 2015  34,056 43,955 (4,527) 73,484 
Correction of prior period errors  - - (1,326) (1,326) 

Restated balance at 1 July 2015  34,056 43,955 (5,853) 72,158 

Deficit - Restated  - - (6,455) (6,455) 
Other comprehensive income  - (3,104) - (3,104) 

Total comprehensive income for the period  - (3,104) (6,455) (9,559) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      
Capital appropriations  26,767 - - 26,767 

Total  26,767 - - 26,767 

Balance at 30 June 2016 - Restated  60,823 40,851 (12,308) 89,366 

      
Balance at 1 July 2016 - Restated  60,823 40,851 (12,308) 89,366 

Deficit  -  (3,987) (3,987) 
Other comprehensive income  - (3,301) - (3,301) 

Total comprehensive income for the period  - (3,301) (3,987) (7,288) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      
Capital appropriations  39,317 - - 39,317 
Contribution from Owners      209,502 - - 209,502 

Total    248,819 - - 248,819 

Balance at 30 June 2017  309,642 37,550 (16,295) 330,897 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.                     
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 Notes 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    
Service appropriation  51,715 53,274 
Capital appropriation  39,056 27,028 
Holding account drawdown  - 200 
Regional Royalties Fund  7,472 5,065 
State Grants & Subsidies  973 - 

Net cash provided by State Government  99,216 85,567 

    

Utilised as follows:    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    
Employee benefits  (12,094) (17,378) 
Supplies & Services  (2,997) (3,586) 
Accommodation  (7,267) (3,900) 
Grants and subsidies  (32,481) (37,360) 
GST Payments on purchases  (7,558) (5,306) 
Other Payments  (247) (186) 
    
Receipts    
User charges and fees  313 310 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  234 90 
Interest received  1 1 
GST Receipts on sales  156 95 
GST received from taxation authority  7,633 4,901 
Other receipts  463 360 

Net cash used in operating activities 30 (53,844) (61,959) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    
Purchase of non-current assets  (39,919) (19,394) 

Net cash provided used in investing activities  (39,919) (19,394) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  5,453 4,214 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  16,525 12,311 

    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 30 21,978 16,525 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 Arts Industry 
Support 

Research, Policy 
Development, 

Information and 
Support 

Corporate & Asset 
& Infrastructure 

Support to the 
Culture and Arts 

Portfolio & 
Government 

State Information 
Management and 
Archival Services 

Total 

 2017 
$'000 

Restated 

2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 

2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 

2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 

2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 

2016 
$000 

COST OF SERVICES           

Expenses           

Employee benefits expense 1,234 1,975 1,185 1,682 7,160 10,563 2,296 2,205 11,875 16,425 

Supplies and services 291 307 280 262 2,166 3,139 634 94 3,371 3,802 

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 

- - - - 1,110 1,179 20 40 1,130 1,219 

Accommodation expenses - - - - 8,510 4,591 38 50 8,548 4,641 

Grants and subsidies 18,761 18,508 18,026 15,766 4,146 6,923 - - 40,933 41,197 

Other expenses (15) 5 (15) 4 207 227 4 5 181 241 

Total cost of services 20,271 20,795 19,476 17,714 23,299 26,622 2,992 2,394 66,038 67,525 

           

Income           

User charges & fees - - - - 240 207 51 72 291 279 

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 

119 49 115 41 - - - - 234 90 

Other revenue 34 1 33 1 234 349 5 4 306 355 

Total Income other than Income 
from State Government 

153 50 148 42 474 556 56 76 831 724 

           

NET COST OF SERVICES 20,118 20,745 19,328 17,672 22,825 26,066 2,936 2,318 65,207 66,801 

           

INCOME FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT 

          

Service Appropriation 12,026 15,910 11,555 13,553 26,698 22,845 2,430 2,165 52,709 54,473 

Services received free of charge - - - - 579 808 - - 579 808 

Royalties for Regions Fund 3,811 2,735 3,661 2,330 - - - - 7,472 5,065 

Grants and subsidies from State 
Government 

5 - 5 - - - 450 - 460 - 

Total Income from State 
Government 

15,842 18,645 15,221 15,883 27,277 23,653 2,880 2,165 61,220 60,346 

           

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (4,276) (2,100) (4,107) (1,789) 4,452 (2,413) (56) (153) (3,987) (6,455) 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE 
As at 30 June 2017 

 

 Arts Industry 
Support 

Research, Policy 
Development, 

Information and 
Support 

Corporate & Asset & 
Infrastructure 

Support to the 
Culture and Arts 

Portfolio & 
Government 

State Information 
Management and 
Archival Services 

Total 

 2017 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

2017 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Assets           

Current Assets 7,079 4,415 6,801 3,761 8,137 9,165 1,044 837 23,061 18,178 

Non-Current Assets 103,473 22,026 99,415 18,762 118,935 45,726 15,267 4,178 337,090 90,692 

Total assets 110,552 26,441 106,216 22,523 127,072 54,891 16,311 5,015 360,151 108,870 

           

Liabilities           

Current Liabilities 8,833 4,436 8,486 3,779 10,153 9,208 1,303 842 28,775 18,265 

Non-Current Liabilities 147 301 141 256 169 625 22 57 479 1,239 

Total Liabilities 8,980 4,737 8,627 4,035 10,322 9,833 1,325 899 29,254 19,504 

           

 101,572 21,704 97,589 18,488 116,750 45,058 14,986 4,116 330,897 89,366 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT 
APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 2017 
Estimate 

$'000 

2017 
Actual 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

2017 
Actual 
$'000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Variance 
$'000 

DELIVERY OF SERVICES       

Item 36 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 36,020 37,455 1,435 37,455 37,895 (440) 
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes:       

 - Lotteries Commission Act 1990 16,965 15,000 (1,965) 15,000 16,300 (1,300) 
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 254 254 - 254 278 (24) 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 53,239 52,709 (530) 52,709 54,473 (1,764) 
             

CAPITAL             

Item 133 Capital appropriations 91,395 39,056 (52,339) 39,056 27,028 12,028 

 91,395 39,056 (52,339) 39,056 27,028 12,028 

GRAND TOTAL 144,634 91,765 (52,869) 91,765 81,501 10,264 

             

Details of Expenses by Service       

Arts Industry Support 23,978 20,271 (3,707) 20,271 20,795 (524) 
Research, Policy Development, Information and Support 17,161 19,476 2,315 19,476 17,714 1,762 

Corporate & Asset & Infrastructure Support to the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio and  Government 

17,827 23,299 5,472 23,299 26,622 (3,323) 

State Information Management and Archival Services 3,049 2,992 (57) 2,992 2,394 598 

Total Cost of Services 62,015 66,038 4,023 66,038 67,525 (1,487) 
Less Total Income 1,019 (831) (1,850) (831) (724) (107) 
Net Cost of Services 63,034 65,207 2,173 65,207 66,801 (1,594) 
Adjustments (9,795) (12,498) (2,703) (12,498) (12,328) (170) 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 53,239 52,709 (530) 52,709 54,473 (1,764) 
             

Capital Expenditure       

Purchase of non-current physical assets 91,395 39,056 (52,339) 39,056 27,028 12,028 

Capital appropriations 91,395 39,056 (52,339) 39,056 27,028 12,028 

 
Note 35 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the actual 
results for 2017 and 2016.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards 

General 

The Department's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB). 

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Department of Culture and the Arts cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of any other Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended       
30 June 2017. 

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General statement 

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied 
by the Treasurer's instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and 
wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.   

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 

The Department of Culture and the Arts (DCA) ceased to exist as a Department on 30 June 2017, due to the first round of Machinery of 
Government (MoG) changes in the public sector. As of 1 July 2017 the DCA will be included in the new Department; Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSCI). 

The financial statements have been compiled on a going concern basis as the net assets will transfer to the new Department (DLGSCI) that 
will continue to provide services to the public. 

All employee benefit provision in final report (2016-17) has been calculated under AASB 119 “Employee Benefits”. All assets, rights and 
liabilities were transferred at their carrying value to the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries as opening balances 
as at 01 July 2017. 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of 
applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Culture and the Arts. The Department has no related bodies. 
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Mission 

The Department’s mission is to provide leadership, support and services to ensure that Western Australians have easy and affordable access 
to a diverse range of innovative ideas, knowledge and cultural experiences. 

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. The Department is supplemented by fees received for the 
provision of services that are charged out on a full cost recovery basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. The 
financial statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 

Services 

The Department provides the following services: 

Service 1: Arts Industry Support 

Supporting the delivery of arts and culture activities across Western Australia through funding programs and partnerships. 

Service 2: Research, Policy Development, Information and Support 

Contributing to the development of the State by delivering strong evidence-based Culture and the Arts policy, research and planning in order 
to achieve State Government outcomes. 

Service 3: Corporate and Asset and Infrastructure Support to the Culture and Arts Portfolio and Government 

Managing cultural infrastructure on behalf of the Government of Western Australia and the provision of centralised services to the Culture 
and Arts Portfolio and other agencies. 

Service 4: State Information Management and Archival Services 

State Information Management and Archival Services which consists of a regulatory/advisory component for all government organisations, 
as well as management of and access to the State Archives Collection. 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as 
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.  

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 29 "Equity'. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to 
the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Service Appropriations 

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated 
funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 
'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Net Appropriation Determination 

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the Department. 
In accordance with the most recent determination specified in the 2016-17 Budget Statements, the Department retained $0.83 million in 
2017 ($1.32 million in 2016) from the following: 

 proceeds from fees and charges; 
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 Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and 

 Other departmental revenue 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is 
received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control over the funds.  
The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account. 

Gains 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and 
some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment   

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is 
expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total). 

Work in Progress 

Buildings under construction are recognised at cost and are not depreciated. Upon construction completion, the accumulated cost will be 
transferred to “Buildings” upon which time depreciation will commence. 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and historical cost for 
all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies 
where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of 
replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of 
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are 
restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).     

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. 

Refer also to note 22 'Property, plant and equipment' for further information on revaluations. 

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to 
assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a 
clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 

De-recognition 

Upon disposal or de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the 
asset revaluation surplus. 
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Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 22 
'Property, plant and equipment'. 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of 
depreciable asset are: 

Buildings     40 years 
Leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years 
Plant and equipment  40 years 
Computer hardware and software (a) 4 years 

Furniture and fittings 10 years 
Collections 0 to 100 years 
(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware  

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful 
lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation 
has been recognised. 

Land is not depreciated. 

(g) Intangible assets 
Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. 
The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is 
reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual 
value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 
Licences up to 10 years 
Development Costs 3 to 5 years 
Software (a) 3 to 5 years 

Website costs 3 to 5 years 
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Licences  

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Development costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the future 
economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs 
are expensed as incurred. 

Computer Software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part 
of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
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Website costs 

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when they 
may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs 
of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, 
are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset 
measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued 
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the 
Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to 
evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash 
flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. 

(i) Leases 

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount 
to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. 
The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Department is 
expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties. 

(j) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument: 

 Loans and receivables; and 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

 Financial Assets 

- Cash and cash equivalents 

- Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

- Receivables 

- Amounts Receivable for Services 

 Financial Liabilities 

- Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 
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(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on 
hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(l) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries 
are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its fair value. 

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer to note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually, from 
Departmental appropriations for salaries expense, into a suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary 
payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and 
asset replacement. 

Refer to note 17 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 20 ’Amounts receivable for services’.  

(n) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department 
will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions - Employee Benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. 

Annual leave 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be 
‘other long‑term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Long Service Leave 

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service based on remuneration rates current as 
at the end of the reporting period. 

An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries at 30 June 2017 determined that the liability 
measured using the short-hand measurement technique above was not materially different from the liability determined using the present 
value of expected future payments. This calculation is consistent with the Department’s experience of employee retention and leave taken. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service 
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements 
in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold 
State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-
contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 
became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund 
provider on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992. Contributions to these accumulated schemes extinguish the Department's liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees 
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined 
contribution plan for Department purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB 
extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded 
GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s 
share. 

See also Note 2(q) 'Superannuation Expense'. 

Provisions - other 

Employment On-Costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are 
not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

(q) Superannuation expense 

Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution 
paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised 
as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services 
received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(s) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current reporting period. 
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly. 

Operating lease commitment 

The Department has entered into a commercial lease for office accommodation and it has determined that the lessor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department's long service leave provision include expected future salary rates, 
discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Department: 

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where they are the 
same. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 
11] 

The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint 
Operations.  Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of the Standard. 

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 
[AASB 116 & 138] 

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation and amortisation is not 
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits. 

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128] 

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity 
method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.  
As the Department has no joint ventures and associates, the application of the Standard has no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012 2014 
Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140] 

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
2012 2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections.  The Department has determined that the application of the 
Standard has no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 
1049] 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101.  Specifically, 
the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation 
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining 
what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There is 
no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128 

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 128 that were 
originally made in AASB 2014 10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no financial impact. 
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Voluntary changes in accounting policy 

The Department did not make any voluntary changes to its Accounting Policy in 2016-17. 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative  

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Department has 
early adopted AASB 2015‑7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ‑ Fair Value Disclosures of Not‑for‑Profit Public Sector 
Entities. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date. 

      
Standard Description Operative for 

reporting 
periods 
beginning 
on/after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing 
a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by 
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and, AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report useful information to 
users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from a contract with a customer.  

The Department's income is principally derived from appropriations which will be measured under 
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and will be unaffected by this change. However, the 
Department has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard on 'User charges and fees' 
and 'Sales' revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions attached to these 
revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Department has discharged its performance 
obligations.    

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 16 Leases 

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the Department currently has operating 
lease commitments. The Department anticipates most of this amount will be brought on to the 
statement of financial position, excepting amounts pertinent to short-term or low-value leases. Interest 
and amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease. 

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not for profit 
(NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that are not 
contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction 
gives rise to a liability, a performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or, an 
obligation to acquire an asset. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 
12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 
to 1 January 2018.  The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.     

1 Jan 2018 
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AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Department to determine the application or potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15  

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018.  The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128] 

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the requirements in 
AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The mandatory effective date (application date) 
for the Standard has been deferred to 1 Jan 2018 by AASB 2015 10.  The Department has determined 
that the Standard has no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017.  For Not-For-Profit entities, the 
mandatory effective date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 by AASB 2016-7. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15. 

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107 

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to 
AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-Generating 
Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities  

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets of not-for-
profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service 
capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact. 

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not for Profit Entities 

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 and defers the 
consequential amendments that were originally set out in AASB 2014 5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for not for profit entities to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 January 2018.  There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not for 
Profit Entities 

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation guidance for not-for-
profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying those 
Standards to particular transactions and other events.  There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2019 
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AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual Improvements 2014 2016 Cycle 

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure requirements apply to an 
entity’s interests in other entities that are classified as held for sale, held for distribution to owners in 
their capacity as owners or discontinued operations in accordance with AASB 5.  There is no financial 
impact. 

1 Jan 2017 

 

Note 6. Employee benefits expense  

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Wages and salaries (a) 9,204 12,593 
Leave 1,370 2,237 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 1,091 1,430 
Other related expenses 210 165 

 

11,875 16,425 
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including 
superannuation contribution component. 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible funds. 

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’. Employment on‑costs 
liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’. 
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Note 7. Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

The Department has determined that key management personnel include Ministers and senior officers of the Department. However, the 
Department is not obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be found in the 
Annual Report on State Finances. 

Total compensation for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

 
2017 2016 

280,001 - 290,000 1 - 
260,001 - 270,000 - 1 
220,001 - 230,000 - 1 
180,001 - 190,000 1 - 
170,001 - 180,000 2 3 
160,001 - 170,000 1 2 
150,001 - 160,000 - 1 
140,001 - 150,000 1 - 
130,001 - 140,000 - 1 
110,001 – 120,000 - 1 
70,001 - 80,000 1 - 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Short-term employee benefits 1,055 1,617 
Post-employment benefits 108 165 
Other long-term benefits 41 (26) 

Total compensation of senior officers 1,204 1,756 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.  

Note 8. Supplies and services 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Communication Services 69 183 
Freight & Mail Services 20 21 
Computing & IT related equipment 530 752 
Labour Hire/Temporary Personnel 30 197 
Professional & Administrative Services 1,313 1,230 
Consulting Services 86 113 
Consumables 151 156 
Repairs & Maintenance 49 41 
Travel 148 161 
Entertainment 49 44 
Insurance & licences 457 246 
Operating Lease, Rental & Hire Costs 434 522 
Other  35 136 

 
3,371 3,802 
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Note 9. Depreciation and amortisation expense 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Depreciation 
  Buildings 874 755 

Plant, Equipment & Vehicles 212 225 

Total depreciation 1,086 980 

Amortisation 
  Intangible Assets 44 239 

Total amortisation 44 239 

Total depreciation and amortisation 1,130 1,219 

Note 10. Accommodation expenses 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Property 1,380 1,265 
Accommodation, Repairs & Maintenance 2,545 965 
Minor Works 3,347 688 
Utilities 104 121 
Lease Rental - Buildings 1,160 1,590 
Other  12 12 

 
8,548 4,641 

Note 11. Grants and subsidies 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Major Arts Agencies 22,067 21,304 
Major Performing Arts Companies 8,830 8,955 
Creative Regions 5,476 4,508 
Minor Works 1,230 3,542 
ScreenWest 2,500 2,550 
Bell Tower Foundation 240 290 
Arts Refurbishment Projects 590 48 

  40,933 41,197 

Note 12. Other expenses 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Audit fees (a) 61 67 
Bad debts - 116 
Refund of Revenue from Prior Years 6 12 
Other  114 47 

 

181 242 
(a) Refer also to note 37 Remuneration of auditor. 
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Note 13. Related Party Transactions 

The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the Department is 
required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers to the State and 
entities related to State. 

Related parties of the department include: 

 all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;  

 all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities; 

 other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated financial 
statements; 

 associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements; and 

 the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

Significant transactions with government-related entities 

Significant transactions include:  

 Service appropriations (Note 17); 

 Capital appropriations (Note 29); 

 Services received free of charge from Department of Finance,  State Solicitors Office and Department of Regional Development 
(Note 17); 

 Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 17); 

 Superannuation payments to GESB (Note 6); 

 Lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance (Note 10); and 

 Grants provided to Local Government listed below  (Note 11) 

 

2017 
$000 

  City of Bunbury 504,074 
  City of Fremantle 759,186 
  City of Greater Geraldton 89,500 
  Shire of Augusta Margaret River 500,000 
  Shire of Dandaragan 333,803 
  Shire of Esperance 138,292 
  Shire of Murray 90,743 
  Shire of Perenjori 82,535 
  Shire of Plantagenet 197,358 
  Shire Of Wiluna 79,827 
  Shire of York 103,170 

Material Transactions with related parties 

The Department had no material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family members or their controlled (or 
jointly controlled) entities for disclosure. 
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Note 14. User charges and fees 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

User Charges & Fees 200 189 
Fees 91 90 

 
291 279 

Note 15. Commonwealth grants and contributions 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Commonwealth Grants 234 90 

 

234 90 

Breakdown of Commonwealth Grants 
   Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands  144 - 

 Indigenous Visual Arts Industry Support program – Revealed  90 90 

  234 90 

Note 16. Other gains/Revenue 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Insurance claims recoveries - 88 
Rentals 169 191 
Recoups 84 17 
Recoveries 19 25 
Other  34 34 

 
306 355 

Note 17. Income from State Government 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Appropriation received during the period (a):   
Service Appropriations - General 37,455 37,895 
Service Appropriations:   

 Salaries & Allowances Act 254 278 
 Lotteries Commission Act 15,000 16,300 

 52,709 54,473 

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the period (b)   
Services received free of charge 579 808 

 579 808 

   
Royalties for Regions Fund 7,472 5,065 

 7,472 5,065 

   
Grants and subsidies from State Government (c) 460 - 

 460 - 

   

 61,220 60,346 
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
(asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave 
liabilities during the year. 

 (b) During 2017, the Department of Finance provided services free of charge to the Department of Culture and the Arts to the total value of 
$465,267 (2016: $748,171 ) - made up of components: 

(i) Government Accommodation - Leasing $47,464 (2016: $55,452 ); and  
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(ii) Government Accommodation - Fit Out Depreciation $417,803 (2016: $572,894 ). 

In addition, State Solicitor's Office provided $17,215 (2016: $59,517) and Department of Regional Development provided $96,592 services 
free of charge to the Department of Culture and the Arts. 

(c) Grants and subsidies from State Government is from Department of Aboriginal Affairs for Digitisation program. 

Note 18. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Current   

Restricted Cash (a) 1,740 31 

   
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,606 5 
Commonwealth Government grant - services to Indian Ocean Territories  134 - 
Commonwealth Government grant - Indigenous Visual Arts Industry Support program – Revealed - 26 

 1,740 31 

Non-current   
Accrued salaries - provision for 27th pay (b) 52 - 

 

52 - 
(a) The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government have a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of 
services to the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT). The Commonwealth Government recoups the Department costs associated with these services 
(refer to note 41 'Service Delivery Arrangement). In addition, there is also an agreement with Department of Regional Development for the 
Royalties for Regions Funds relating to Performing Arts Regional Tour Boost project. Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs 
in WA regional areas. 

(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period that occurs every 11th year. 

Note 19. Receivables 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Current   
Receivables 287 367 
Allowance for impairment of receivables (10) (17) 
GST receivable 628 1,035 

Total receivables 905 1,385 

   
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivable:   
   
Balance at start of period 17 - 
Doubtful debts expense 2 17 
Amounts written off during the period (6) - 
Impairment losses reversed during the period (3) - 

Balance at end of period 10 17 

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 

Note 20. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Non-current 5,648 4,654 

 

5,648 4,654 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of 
leave liabilities. 
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Note 21. Other assets 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Current   
Prepayments 229 268 

Total current 229 268 

Note 22. Property, plant and equipment 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Land  
 At fair value (a) 109,460 22,320 

 
109,460 22,320 

Buildings   
At fair value (a) 159,820 40,058 

 
159,820 40,058 

Leasehold improvements  
 At cost 1,507 1,497 

Accumulated depreciation (138) (101) 

 
1,369 1,396 

Buildings under construction  
 Construction costs  50,050 14,667 

 
50,050 14,667 

Plant, equipment and vehicles  
 At cost 80 80 

Accumulated depreciation (60) (58) 

 
20 22 

Office equipment  
 At cost 1,379 1,379 

Accumulated depreciation (1,251) (1,047) 

 
128 332 

Collections  
 At cost 1,477 1,477 

Accumulated depreciation (191) (185) 

 
1,286 1,292 

Works of art  
 At fair value 235 231 

At cost 300 162 

 
535 393 

Exhibits  
 Exhibits - WIP 7,871 4,780 

 
7,871 4,780 

 

330,539 85,260 

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2016 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The 
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2017 and recognised at 30 June 2017. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value 
was determined by reference to market values for land: $109,460,000 (2016: $22,320,000) and buildings: $159,820,000 (2016: $40,057,700). 
For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was 
determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level activity (high restricted use land). See Note 2(f) 
'Property, plant and equipment'. 

The Cabinet approved the amalgamation of land within the Perth Cultural Centre into a single Crown Reserve. The Management Order of the 
amalgamated land was transferred on 2 September 2016 from the Minister for Lands to the Minister for Culture and the Arts for the new 
Crown Reserve 37000 including the power to direct the use and management of State assets therein, and to lease, sub-lease and license all 
the buildings within. The Minister for Culture and the Arts will hold a statutory right to manage and control Crown land in accordance with 
the management order granted under the Land Administration Act (LAA).  The land and buildings transferred to the Department under the 
PCC land amalgamation were from the Art Gallery of Western Australia, Perth Theatre Trust and the Western Australian Museum. 
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the 
table below: 
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2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of period 

22,320 40,058 1,396 14,667 22 332 1,292 393 4,780 85,260 

Additions - 500 10 36,423 - - - 142 3,091 40,166 

Revaluations (1,860) (1,442) - - - - - - - (3,302) 

Transfers (a) 89,000 121,540 - (1,040) - - - - - 209,500 

Depreciation 
and 
amortisation 

- (836) (37)  (2) (204) (6) - - (1,085) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

109,460 159,820 1,369 50,050 20 128 1,286 535 7,871 330,539 
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2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of period 

22,430 29,796 661 13,998 10 458 1,299 310 2,477 71,439 

Prior year 
adjustment - 
reclassificatio
n (2015-16) 

- - - (453) - - - - (218) (671) 

Revised 
Opening 
Balance 

22,430 29,796 661 13,545 10 458 1,299 310 2,259 70,768 

Additions - - 765 15,694 14 91  73 2,699 19,336 

Revaluations (110) (3,004) - - - - - 10 - (3,104) 

Transfers  - 13,990 - (13,990) - - - - -  -    

Depreciation 
and 
amortisation 

- (724) (30) - (2) (217) (7) - - (980) 

Prior year 
adjustment - 
reclassificatio
n (2013-14 & 
2014-15) 

- - - (582) - - - - (178) (760) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

22,320 40,058 1,396 14,667 22 332 1,292 393 4,780 85,260 

(a) The Management Order of the amalgamated land was transferred on 2 September 2016 from the Minister of the Land to the Minister for 
Culture and the Arts into a single Crown Reserve 37000 of land within the Perth Cultural Centre. 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 23. 
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Note 23. Fair Value Measurements 

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Fair value at  

end of period 
2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Land (Note 22) - 109,460 - 109,460 
Buildings (Note 22) - 149,331 10,489 159,820 
Works of Art (Note 22) - - 235 235 

 
- 258,791 10,724 269,515 

     
Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Fair value at  
end of period 

2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Land (Note 22) - 22,320 - 22,320 
Buildings (Note 22) - 29,202 10,856 40,058 
Works of Art (Note 22) - - 231 231 

 
- 51,522 11,087 62,609 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period. 

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values 

Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach.  
Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per 
square metre. 

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

 
Land Buildings Infrastructure 

2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Fair Value at start of period - 10,856 231 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income - (367) 4 

Fair Value at end of period - 10,489 235 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’ - - - 

 

 
Land Buildings Infrastructure 

2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Fair Value at start of period - 11,021 221 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income - (165) 10 

Fair Value at end of period - 10,856 231 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under 'Other Gains' - - - 

Valuation processes 

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.   

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's instructions require valuations of 
land, buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Land (Level 3 fair values) 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The 
relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of 
comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land. 

Buildings and Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values) 

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less 
accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, 
and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset.  Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable 
replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications. 
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Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which 
is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement is sensitive to the 
estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings. 

Basis of Valuation  

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non‑financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis.  The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their 
use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being 
held to deliver a specific community service and the Department’s enabling legislation. 

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and evaluated as follows: 

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m2) 

The costs of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility are extracted from financial records of the Model Statutory Authority, and 
then indexed by movements in CPI. 

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset 

These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Selection of land with restricted utility 

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant comparators of 
land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements 

Description Fair value as 
at 30 June 

2017 
$000 

Valuation 
technique(s) 

Unobservable inputs Range of 
unobservable 

inputs 
(weighted 

average) 

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to fair 
value 

BELL TOWER 
Building 

$10,489 Depreciated 
Replacement Cost   

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2) 

$9,473 per m2 
($9,806 per m2) 

Historical cost per m2 
increases fair value. 

Works of Art $235 Existing use Selection of Art works with 
similar characteristics 

0% to 2.5% per 
year 

Higher value of similar art 
work pieces increases fair 
value 

      

Description Fair value as 
at 30 June 

2016 
$000 

Valuation 
technique(s) 

Unobservable inputs Range of 
unobservable 

inputs 
(weighted 

average) 

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to fair 
value 

BELL TOWER 
Building 

$10,586 Depreciated 
Replacement Cost   

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2) 

$9,806 per m2 
($9,806 per m2) 

Historical cost per m2 
increases fair value. 

Works of Art $231 Existing use Selection of Art works with 
similar characteristics 

0% to 2.5% per 
year 

Higher value of similar art 
work pieces increases fair 
value 

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 22 and 23. 
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Note 24. Intangible assets 

 
2017 

Restated 
2016 

 
$000 $000 

Licences 
  At cost 306 306 

Accumulated amortisation (268) (250) 

 
38 56 

Computer software 
  At cost 1,197 1,197 

Computer software - WIP 690 670 
Accumulated amortisation (1,171) (1,145) 

 
716 722 

Other intangibles 
  At cost 253 156 

Accumulated amortisation (156) (156) 

 
97 - 

 
851 778 

Reconciliations: 
  Licences 
  Carrying amount at start of period 56 7 

Additions - 58 
Amortisation expense (18) (9) 

Carrying amount at end of period 38 56 

Computer software 
  Carrying amount at start of period 722 874 

Additions 20 58 
Amortisation expense (26) (210) 

Carrying amount at end of period 716 722 

Other intangibles 
  Carrying amount at start of period - 911 

Prior Year Correction - Reclassified as expense  - (911) 
Additions 97 - 

Carrying amount at end of period 97 - 

Note 25. Impairment of assets 

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2017. 

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  At the end of the reporting 
period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2017 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off. 
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Note 26. Payables 

Current 
2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Trade payables 298 69 
Grants payable 23,485 15,119 
Accrued expenses - 13 
Accrued salaries 55 - 
Accrued superannuation 8 7 
Minor works payable - 469 
Other 1,687 135 

Total Current 25,533 15,812 

Note 27. Provisions 

 

2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Current 
  Employee benefits provision 
  Annual leave (a)

 882 650 
Long service leave (b) 1,232 1,168 

Other provisions (d) 12 25 

 
2,126 1,843 

Other provisions 
  Employment on-costs (c) 288 309 

 
288 309 

 
2,414 2,152 

Non-current 
  Employee benefits provision 
  Annual leave (a) - 217 

Long service leave (b) 430 871 

 
430 1,088 

Other provisions 
  Employment on-costs (c) 49 151 

 
49 151 

 
479 1,239 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 594 650 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 288 217 

 
882 867 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 490 387 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 1,172 1,652 

 

1,662 2,039 
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 
‘Other expenses’. 
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(d) Provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 
weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Movements in other provisions 2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out 
below:   
Employment on-cost provision 

  Carrying amount at start of the period 460 560 
Additional/(reversal of) provisions required (123) (100) 

Carrying amount at end of period 337 460 

Note 28. Other liabilities 

Current 
2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Income Received in Advance  828 300 
Unclaimed monies - 1 

Total Current 828 301 

Note 29. Equity 

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual 
interest in the net assets of the Department.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation 
of non-current assets. 

Contributed equity 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Balance at start of the period 60,823 34,056 
Contributions by owners   
Capital appropriation 39,317 26,767 
Contribution from Owners 209,502 - 

Total contribution by owners 309,642 60,823 

 
  

Balance at end of period 309,642 60,823 

Reserves 

  Asset revaluation surplus 
  Balance at start of the period 40,851 43,955 

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)   
Land (1,860) (110) 
Buildings (1,442) (3,004) 
Works of Art 1 10 

Balance at end of period 37,550 40,851 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

  Balance at start of the period (12,308) (4,527) 
Result for the period (3,987) (5,439) 
Prior year adjustment - (2,342) 

Balance at end of period (16,295) (12,308) 

Total equity at end of period 330,897 89,366 
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Note 30. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Reconciliation of cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows: 

 2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Cash and cash equivalents  20,187 16,494 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 18 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 1,791 31 

 
21,978 16,525 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities 

 
2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Net cost of services  (65,207) (66,801) 
   

Non-cash items   
Depreciation and amortisation expense (Note 9 'Depreciation and amortisation expense') 1,130 1,219 
Services received free of charge (Note 17 'Income from State Government') 579 808 
Doubtful debts expenses (Note 19 'Receivables') 2 17 
   
(Increase)/decrease in assets   

Current receivables (a) 80 117 

Other current assets 39 (31) 
Non-current receivables - 75 
   
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities   

Current payables (a) 9,097 2,936 

Current provisions 262 (278) 
Other current liabilities 527 300 
Non-current provisions (760) (374) 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) 231 (310) 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) 176 363 

Net cash used in operating activities   (53,844) (61,959) 
(a)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payables in respect of GST and the receivables/payables in respect of the 
sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Department has fully drawn down on all financial facilities, details of which are disclosed in the 
financial statements. 

Note 31. Services provided free of charge 

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside 
the normal operations of the Department: 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

   Art Gallery of Western Australia - 20 
   Western Australian Museum  - 42 
   Perth Theatre Trust 19 3 
   ScreenWest Inc. 2,067 2,228 

 
2,086 2,293 
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Note 32. Commitments 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:    
Within 1 year 1,097 1,465 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,397 5,784 
Later than 5 years - 2,264 

 
5,494 9,514 

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a remaining term of 5 years, with rent payable 
monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by 
the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. 

The commitments below are inclusive of GST. 

Capital expenditure commitments 2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported 
in the financial statements, are payable as follows: 

 
 

Within 1 year 115,170 97,201 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 229,000 293,420 

 

344,170 390,621 

The capital expenditure commitments relates to the building of a New State Museum (total capital fund $428.3 million) and $1,170,000 for 
Fit for Purpose Infrastructure Maintenance Program.         

Other expenditure commitments 2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Grant and other commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, are payable as follows: 

 
 

Within 1 year - - 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 35,227 28,562 

 
35,227 28,562 

Note 33. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Contingent liabilities 

The Department is not aware of any contingent liability existing as at 30 June 2017. 

Contingent assets 

The Department is not aware of any contingent asset existing as at 30 June 2017. 

Note 34. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

The department has no adjusting or non - adjusting events after the end of the reporting period. The Department of Culture and the Arts 
ceased to exist as a department on 30 June 2017 and will be part of in the new Department; Department of Local Government, Sport and 
Cultural Industries (DLGSCI) as part of the Machinery of Government (MoG) changes in the public sector. The financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis as assets and liabilities will be transferred to the new Department (DLGSCI) at carrying value as at                
1 July 2017. The DLGSC will continue to provide services to the public. 
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Note 35. Explanatory Statement 

 All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016 are 
shown below.  Narratives are provided for selected major variances which are generally greater than: 

 5% and  $1.2 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows, and; 
 5% and  $2.2 million for the Statement of Financial Position 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Variance  
Note 

 

Estimates 
2017 
$000 

Actual 
2017 
$000 

Restated  
Actual 

2016 
$000 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and 
actual 

$000 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$000 

       
Expenses       
Employee benefits expense A 12,452 11,875 16,425 (577) (4,550) 
Supplies and services  2,497 3,371 3,802 874 (431) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  994 1,130 1,219 136 (89) 
Accommodation expenses B 9,163 8,548 4,641 (615) 3,907 
Grants and subsidies 1 36,811 40,933 41,197 4,122 (264) 
Other expenses  98 181 241 83 (60) 

Total cost of services  62,015 66,038 67,525 4,023 (1,487) 

       
Income       
Revenue       
User charges & fees  518 291 279 (227) 12 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  285 234 90 (51) 144 
Other revenue  216 306 355 90 (49) 

Total Revenue  1,019 831 724 (188) 107 

       

Total Income other than Income from State Government  1,019 831 724 (188) 107 

NET COST OF SERVICES  60,996 65,207 66,801 4,211 (1,594) 

       
Income from State Government       
Service Appropriation  53,239 52,709 54,473 (530) (1,764) 
Services received free of charge  750 579 808 (171) (229) 
Royalties for Regions Fund C 7,580 7,472 5,065 (108) 2,407 
Grants and subsidies from State Government   460 - 460 460 

Total Income from State Government  61,569 61,220 60,346 (349) 874 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  573 (3,987) (6,455) (4,560) 2,468 

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives 

1) Grants and subsidies overspend by $4 million due to the treatment of Grants commitment as Grants payable. 

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives 

A) Employee benefits expenses reduced by $4.5 million (28%) due to Agency Expenditure Review for the transfer of FTEs between DCA 
and other portfolio agencies, reduction of FTEs and the termination payment in 2015-16. 

B) Accommodation expenses increased by $3.9 million (84%) due to the centralisation of Building Maintenance for portfolio agencies 
within DCA. 

C) Royalties for Regions Fund increased by $2 million due to increased funding for the Creative Regions programs. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Variance 
 

Estimates 
2017 
$000 

Actual 
2017 
$000 

Restated  
Actual 

2016 
$000 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and 
actual 

$000 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$000 

       
ASSETS       
Current Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  12,328 20,187 16,494 7,859 3,693 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  248 1,740 31 1,492 1,709 
Receivables  1,492 905 1,385 (587) (480) 
Other current assets  237 229 268 (8) (39) 

Total Current Assets  14,305 23,061 18,178 8,756 4,883 

       
       
Non-Current Assets       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  69 52 - (17) 52 
Receivables  75 - - (75) - 
Amounts receivable for services  5,648 5,648 4,654 - 994 
Property, plant and equipment 2, D 190,171 330,539 85,260 140,368 245,279 
Intangible assets  2,181 851 778 (1,330) 73 

Total Non-Current Assets  198,144 337,090 90,692 138,946 246,398 

TOTAL ASSETS  212,449 360,151 108,870 147,702 251,281 

       
LIABILITIES       
Current Liabilities       
Payables  12,242 25,533 15,812 13,291 9,721 
Provisions  2,158 2,414 2,152 256 262 
Other current liabilities  123 828 301 705 527 

Total Current Liabilities  14,523 28,775 18,265 14,252 10,510 

       
Non-Current Liabilities       
Provisions  1,689 479 1,239 (1,210) (760) 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  1,689 479 1,239 (1,210) (760) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  16,212 29,254 19,504 13,042 9,750 

NET ASSETS  196,237 330,897 89,366 134,660 241,531 

       
EQUITY       
Contributed equity  153,959 309,642 60,823 155,683 248,819 
Reserves 3, E 46,026 37,550 40,851 (8,476) (3,301) 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  (3,748) (16,295) (12,308) (12,547) (3,987) 

TOTAL EQUITY  196,237 330,897 89,366 134,660 241,531 

 

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives 

2) Property, plant and equipment increased by $140 million (74%) due to the transfer of the amalgamated Perth Cultural Centre from the 
Minister for Lands to the Minister for Culture and the Arts into a single Crown Reserve 37000 and the issuance of a new Management 
Order which vested the management, care and control of the new Crown Reserve 37000 in the Minister for Culture and the Arts.  

3)     Reserves reduced by $8 million (18%) due to the revaluations of land and buildings held by the Department. 
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Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives 

D)  Property, plant and equipment increased by $245 million due to the transfer of the amalgamated Perth Cultural     Centre from the 
Minister for Lands to the Minister for Culture and the Arts into a single Crown Reserve 37000 and the issuance of a new Management 
Order which vested the management, care and control of the new Crown Reserve 37000 in the Minister for Culture and the Arts. The 
Department is recognising the additional Land ($89 million), Building ($121 million) and the $34 million relates to the building progress 
for New Museum Project. 

E)   Reserves reduced by $3 million (8%) due to the revaluations of land and buildings held by the Department. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Variance 
 

Estimates 
2017 
$000 

Actual 
2017 
$000 

Restated  
Actual 

2016 
$000 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
$000 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$000 

       
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT       
Service appropriation  52,245 51,715 53,274 (530) (1,559) 
Capital appropriation 4, F 91,395 39,056 27,028 (52,339) 12,028 
Holding account drawdown  - - 200 - (200) 
Regional Royalties Fund  7,580 7,472 5,065 (108) 2,407 
State Grants & Subsidies  - 973 - 973 973 

Net cash provided by State Government  151,220 99,216 85,567 (52,004) 13,649 

       
Utilised as follows:       
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       
Payments       
Employee benefits  (12,568) (12,094) (17,378) 474 5,284 
Supplies & Services  (3,070) (2,997) (3,586) 73 589 
Accommodation  (8,549) (7,267) (3,900) 1,282 (3,367) 
Grants and subsidies  (36,811) (32,481) (37,360) 4,330 4,879 
GST Payments on purchases  (13,446) (7,558) (5,306) 5,888 (2,252) 
Other Payments  (98) (247) (186) (149) (61) 
       
Receipts       
User charges and fees  518 313 310 (205) 3 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  285 234 90 (51) 144 
Interest received   1 1 1 - 
GST Receipts on sales  102 156 95 54 61 
GST received from taxation authority  13,344 7,633 4,901 (5,711) 2,732 
Other receipts  216 463 360 247 103 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (60,077) (53,844) (61,959) 6,233 8,115 

       
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES       
Payments       
Purchase of non-current assets 5, G (95,000) (39,919) (19,394) 55,081 (20,525) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (95,000) (39,919) (19,394) 55,081 (20,525) 

       
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (3,857) 5,453 4,214 9,310 1,239 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  14,301 16,525 12,311 2,224 4,214 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD  10,444 21,978 16,525 11,534 5,453 

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives 

4) Capital appropriation underspend by $52 million (57%) due to delay in the New Museum Project. The fund have been carried forward 
to  2017-18. 
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5) Purchase of non-current assets underspend by $55 million due to the delay in the New Museum Project. 

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives 

F)   Capital appropriation increased by $12 million (45%) due to the building progress of the New Museum Project 

G)   Purchase of non-current assets increased by $20 million due to the New Museum project 

Note 36. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, 
payables, finance leases, and Treasurer’s advances. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Department. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross 
carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note 36(c) ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’ and Note 19 ‘Receivables’. 

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services 
(holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At 
the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows 
to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other 
price risks. The Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the long-term debt obligations. 

(b)  Categories of financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period are: 

2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Financial Assets 

  Cash and cash equivalents 20,187 16,494 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Current assets) 1,740 31 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Non -Current assets) 52 - 
Loans and receivables(a) 5,925 5,004 

Financial Liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (25,533) (15,812) 
(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

(c)  Financial Instrument Disclosures 

Credit risk 

The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table 
discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information 
provided to senior management of the Department. 
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The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds. 

Ageing Analysis of financial assets 

 

Carrying 
Amount 

$'000 

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired 

$'000 

Past due but not impaired 

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
$'000 

Up to1 
month 

$'000 
1-3 months 

$'000 

3 months 
to 1 year 

$'000 
1-5 years 

$'000 

More than 
5 years 

$'000 

2017 

        Cash and cash 
equivalents 

20,187 20,187 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 

1,740 1,740 - - - - - - 

Receivables (a) 277 218 18 22 5 24 0 (10) 
Amounts receivable 
for services 

5,648 5,648 - - - - - - 

  27,852 27,793 18 22 5 24 0 (10) 

2016         

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

16,494 16,494 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 

31 31 - - - - - - 

Receivables (a) 350 276 14 - 20 57 - (17) 
Amounts receivable 
for services 

4,654 4,654 - - - - - - 

  21,529 21,455 14 0 20 57 0 (17) 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  
The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each 
item. 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities- 2017 

   Interest rate exposure  Maturity dates 
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Financial Assets 

           Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 

20,187 - - 20,187 20,187 20,187 - - - - 

Restricted cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

 

1,740 - - 1,740 1,740 1,740 - - - - 

Receivables (a) 

 

277 - - 277 277 236 22 5 14 - 
Amounts 
receivable for 
services 

 

5,648 - - 5,648 5,648 - - - 5,648 - 

  

27,852 - - 27,852 27,852 22,163 22 5 5,662 - 

Financial 
Liabilities 

 

          

Payables 

 

2,048 - - 2,048 2,048 2,048 - - - - 
Grants and loans 
payable 

 

23,485 - - 23,485 23,485 23,485 - - - - 

  

25,533 - - 25,533 25,533 25,533 - - - - 
 (a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities- 2016 

   Interest rate exposure  Maturity dates 

2016 
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Financial Assets            

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 16,494 - - 16,494 16,494 16,494 - - - - 

Restricted cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

 31 - - 31 31 31 - - - - 

Receivables (a)  350 - - 350 350 290 - 20 40 - 
Amounts 
receivable for 
services 

 4,654 - - 4,654 4,654 - - - 4,654 - 

  21,529 - - 21,529 21,529 16,815 - 20 4,694 - 

Financial 
Liabilities 

           

Payables  693 - - 693 693 693 - - - - 
Grants and loans 
payable 

 15,119 - - 15,119 15,119 15,119 - - - - 

  15,812 - - 15,812 15,812 15,812 - - - - 
 (a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Note 37. Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows: 

 

 
2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 63 73 
 

Note 38. Related bodies 

The Department has no related bodies. 

Note 39. Affiliated bodies  

The Department provides grants to non-government affiliated bodies for administrative support. In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 
951, the details of financial assistance provided to the non-government affiliated bodies are shown in the table below. A full list showing 
details of all grants provided to non-government bodies has been included in the grants lists attached to and forming part of the annual 
report.   

 
2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

Art On The Move 466 233 
International Arts Space 220 - 
Writing WA - 381 
WA Youth Theatre Company 89 - 
Lost and Found Opera 100 - 

 686 614 

Note 40. Supplementary financial information 

(a) Write offs 
2017 
$000 

2016 
$000 

During the reporting period  (2016: $115,735.58)  was written off under the authority of the Department's 
asset register under the authority of:   
The accountable authority - 115 

 - 115 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 
  

There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes   

(c) Gifts of public property 
  

There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department   

Note 41. Service Delivery Arrangement 

The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government have entered into a Service Delivery Arrangement for the 
provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos [Keeling] Islands) and the State Government for the provision of 
services funded by Department of Regional Development. The receipts and payments are as below: 

 2017 
$000 

Restated 
2016 
$000 

Balance at the start of the year (47) 326 
Receipts 7,682 5,189 
Payments (5,895) (5,561) 

Balance at the end of the year 1,740 (46) 
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Note 42. Correction of Prior Period Error 

The costs incurred in relation to the New Museum Project capital works was treated as Work In Progress and capitalised since 2013-14. A 
review of all expenditures incurred was conducted. In accordance with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AASB 116 
Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 119 Employee Benefits, AASB138 Intangible Assets, Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards, all recurrent amounts have been expensed as opposed to being capitalised against the New Museum 
Project. 

The amounts in respect of financial year 2013-14 and 2014-15 have been aggregated and reversed against the opening retained earnings at 1 
July 2015 in the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Changes in Equity. In accordance with the requirement of AASB 108 – 
Accounting Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the amounts in respect of financial year 2015-16 have been corrected and 
restated against those comparative amounts. 

In 2015-16 the interagency recoups have been treated as Revenue. It has been corrected and restated in financial year 2015-16 with 
comparative amounts. There is no net effect as it is a reallocation between expense and revenue. 

 Notes Previously 
Reported  
30-Jun-16 

Adjustment 
 
 

Restated 
30-Jun-16  

  $000 $000 $000 

Statement of Comprehensive Income      
Expenses:     
Employee benefits expense 6, 31 16,175 250 16,425 
Supplies and services 8 3,633 169 3,802 
Accommodation expenses 10 4,637 4 4,641 
Other expenses 12 242 (1) 241 
     
Income     
Revenue     
Other revenue 16 949 (594) 355 
     
Statement of Financial Position      
Non-Current Assets     
Property, plant and equipment 22 86,691 (1,431) 85,260 
Intangible assets 24 1,689 (911) 778 
     
EQUITY     
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 29 (9,966) (2,342) (12,308) 
     
Statement of Cash Flows      
Payments     
Employee benefits   (17,129) (249) (17,378) 
Supplies and services  (3,362) (224) (3,586) 
Accommodation   (3,945) 45 (3,900) 
     
Receipts     
Other receipts  949 (589) 360 
 
 Contributed 

Equity 
 

Reserves 
 

Accumulated 
deficit 

 

Total Equity 
 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Statement of Changes in Equity      
Balance at 1 July 2016 60,823 40,851 (9,966) 91,708 

Correction of prior period errors - - (2,342) (2,342) 

Restated balance at 1 July 2016 60,823 40,851 (12,308) 89,366 
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Image credits 
Introducti
on: 

Marrugeku, Intercultural Indigenous Choreographic Laboratory, Centre Culturel Tjibaou, Noumea, New 
Caledonia, September 2016. Photo by Anton Blume. 

Section 1: West Australian Ballet, Sandy Delasalle and Matthew Lehmann performing in Jakarta. August 2016. 
Photo by Suprapto. 

Section 2: Theaker Von Ziarno, Burringurrah Festival of Fire, Gascoyne in May 2016. Photo by Anton Blume. 
Section 3: Caitlin Beresford-Ord and Geoff Kelso in The Caucasian Chalk Circle by Bertolt Brecht, presented by 

Black Swan State Theatre Company in collaboration with National Theatre of China, 2016. Photo by 
Philip Gostelow 

Section 4: Ellis Pearson in The Arrival by Spare Parts Puppet Theatre, Fremantle Western Australia, August 2016. 
Photo by Jessica Wyld. 

Section 5:   Ricochet by Christophe Canato. Archival pigment print on metallic paper - perspex face mounted. 60cm 
x 90cm. Photo courtesy of the artist. 

Section 6: M1 Singapore Fringe Festival 2016, Singapore. Richard Symons in Lost and Found’s production of 
Médée, Fremantle Arts Centre. Photo by Jessica Wyld. 
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 Contributed 

Equity 
 

Reserves 
$000 

Accumulated 
deficit 

$000 

Total Equity 
$000 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Statement of Changes in Equity      
Balance at 1 July 2016 60,823 40,851 (9,966) 91,708 
Correction of prior period errors - - (2,342) (2,342) 

Restated balance at 1 July 2016 60,823 40,851 (12,308) 89,366 
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